


CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a higher
investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors
should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of
this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this
report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Polyfair Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their
knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects
and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement
herein or this report misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement

ETRE®|E

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Polyfair Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”), | am pleased to present to you the
annual report for the year ended 31 March 2020 (the “Reporting
Period”).

REVIEW

The total revenue of the Group increased by approximately
HK$14.0 million or 6.5% from approximately HK$215.8 million for
the year ended 31 March 2019 to approximately HK$229.8 million
for the year ended 31 March 2020. Such increase was mainly due
to the fact that we undertook more sizeable projects, in particular,
the project at Kai Tak KT1K with an awarded contract sum
(exclusive of variation orders) of approximately HK$200 million
and a substantial portion of works was performed during the year
ended 31 March 2020.

FORWARD

Looking ahead, the Group is confident about the prospect of the
facade and curtain wall works solution industry in Hong Kong due
to the expected growth of the construction industry in Hong Kong
driven by the Hong Kong Government’s initiatives to increase the
land supply for private housing as well as commercial buildings.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | wish to take this opportunity to express
my sincere gratitude to all of our customers, shareholders and
business partners for their patronage. | would also like to express
our sincere appreciation to the Group’s management and staff
for their commitment, contribution and dedication throughout the
years.

By order of the Board
Chow Mo Lam
Chairman

22 June 2020
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

We are a subcontractor that provides facade and curtain wall
works solutions in Hong Kong. Our solutions are customised to
meet the technical specifications and performance requirements
of our customers. We generally provide both design and build
services in our projects, ranging from developing designs,
conducting structural calculations, preparing shop drawings,
sourcing and procuring building materials, arranging for building
material logistics and installation works, project management to
post-project completion services. We engage subcontractors to
perform the installation work from time to time.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had seven projects in progress
with a total original contract sum of approximately HK$440.3
million, of which approximately HK$110.5 million was recognised
as revenue during the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, we were awarded four new projects,
namely Kai Tak KT1K, HKFYG, Sugar Street and Tai Nan Street,
with a total contract sum of approximately HK$283.0 million.
Letter of award of these four projects were signed and all these
four projects are now at the commencement stage.

OUTLOOK

The demand for facade and curtain wall works is driven by
construction of residential and commercial buildings. The
development of residential buildings in Hong Kong has been a
major driver of facade and curtain wall works and the number is
expected to increase from 13,643 new units in 2019 to 20,854 new
units in 2020.

Another driver for the facade and curtain wall works industry is
office buildings in Hong Kong where the Hong Kong Government
puts effort in developing areas like Kowloon East as new
business areas. According to The Hong Kong Property Review
2020 compiled by the Rating and Valuation Department, office
completions in 2019 were 266,900 m? representing a rise of
49% from 2018. 90% of the completions were in the non-core
districts. Completions of Grade A space amounted to 241,900 m?,
equivalent to 91% of the total supply. These buildings included
both installation of curtain wall systems as the envelop system
above the podium and the works for the building entrance, lobby
and the associate stores.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
B E L AT

Notwithstanding the negative impact from the economic slowdown
driven by the China’s macro-economic conditions, the Group
remains optimistic about its core business as the management
believes that there is a market for quality facade and curtain wall
works in Hong Kong. The Group will further strengthen its sales
effort, closely monitor the status of the projects and carefully
control the cost of services as to expand its customer base and
achieve sustainable business growth and long-term benefits to its
shareholders. We are hoping to be more competitive and able to
compete for more sizeable and profitable projects.

The Group considers that the recent outbreak of the COVID-19 will
affect our business and the Group is actively updating its project
status with its customers. The Board will continue to assess the
potential impact of the outbreak on the Group’s operation and
will closely monitor the Group’s exposure to relevant risks and
uncertainties.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The total revenue of the Group increased by approximately
HK$14.0 million or 6.5% from approximately HK$215.8 million for
the year ended 31 March 2019 to approximately HK$229.8 million
for the year ended 31 March 2020. Such increase was mainly due
to the fact that we undertook more sizeable projects, in particular,
the project at Kai Tak KT1K with an awarded contract sum
(exclusive of variation orders) of approximately HK$200 million
and a substantial portion of works was performed during the year
ended 31 March 2020.

All revenue during the reporting period are generated from the
Group’s customers in Hong Kong. For the year ended 31 March
2020, the Group generated (i) revenue of approximately HK$164.2
million from commercial properties projects, representing
approximately 71.5% of the Group’s revenue, and (ii) revenue
of approximately HK$65.6 million from residential properties
projects, representing approximately 28.5% of the Group’s
revenue.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Cost of Services

The Group’s cost of services primarily consisted of building
material costs, subcontracting charges, staff costs and other
direct costs. The cost of services increased to approximately
HK$212.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2020 from
approximately HK$203.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2019,
representing an increase of approximately 4.4%. The increase is
in line with the increase in revenue.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group requested payments
of an aggregate sum of approximately HK$6.4 million from a
subcontractor in relation to two projects at Victory Avenue and
Prince Edward Road West. For further details, please refer to
the annual report of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2019. During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group has
commenced a legal proceeding for recovery of such outstanding
sums and a judgement in favour of the Group was granted by the
High Court in Hong Kong. Moreover, the Group served a statutory
demand to the shareholder of such subcontractor demanding
repayment of the outstanding sums. However, the outstanding
sums remained outstanding as at the date of this report. Such
amount of approximately HK$6.4 million has been recorded as
cost of services for the year ended 31 March 2019. In this regard,
no provision has been made in the financial statement of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2020.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The Group’s gross profit increased by approximately HK$5.1
million from approximately HK$12.4 million for the year ended
31 March 2019 to approximately HK$17.5 million for the year
ended 31 March 2020. The Group’s gross profit margin increased
from approximately 5.7% for the year ended 31 March 2019
to approximately 7.6% for the year ended 31 March 2020,
representing an increase of approximately 1.9 percentage points.
The increase was due to effective cost control on projects.

Other Income, Gain and Loss

Other income, gain and loss decreased by approximately HK$1.4
million for the year ended 31 March 2020 mainly due to the
decrease in fair value gain on payments for life insurance policies
from approximately HK$1.6 million for the year ended 31 March
2019 to approximately HK$0.3 million for the year ended 31 March
2020.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWEDT

Impairment Losses

Impairment losses decreased by approximately HK$1.2 million
from approximately HK$1.8 million for the year ended 31 March
2019 to approximately HK$0.6 million for the year ended 31 March
2020.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group decreased by approximately
HK$3.0 million from approximately HK$14.2 million for the year
ended 31 March 2019 to approximately HK$11.2 million for the
year ended 31 March 2020. Administrative expenses consisted
primarily of administrative salary expenses and Directors’
emoluments, depreciation, legal and professional fee, rental
expenses and other administrative expenses. The decrease was
mainly attributable to the decrease in administrative salary
expenses of approximately HK$2.8 million due to the decrease in
unsuccessful tendering cost during the Reporting Period.

Finance Costs

Finance costs increased from approximately HK$5.2 million for
the year ended 31 March 2019 to approximately HK$5.6 million for
the year ended 31 March 2020. The increase in finance costs was
mainly attributable to the adoption of HKFRS 16.

Taxation Credit

The income tax credit increased from approximately HK$0.3
million for the year ended 31 March 2019 to approximately HK$2.5
million for the year ended 31 March 2020. Such increase was
mainly attributable to the tax refund arisen from overprovision in
prior years.

Profit (loss) for the Year

Profit for the year ended 31 March 2020 was approximately
HK$3.1 million as compared to the loss of approximately HK$6.6
million for the year ended 31 March 2019. Such change was mainly
attributable to (i) the increase in sizable projects resulting in the
increase in gross profit of approximately HK$5.1 million, (i) the
increase in income tax credit of approximately HK$2.2 million
and (iii) the decrease in administrative expenses of approximately
HK$3.0 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

On 23 February 2018, the shares of the Company were listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “Listing”) to raise gross proceeds
of approximately HK$56 million. Details of the use of proceeds are
set out in the paragraph headed “Use of Proceeds” in this annual
report.

Except for the proceeds raised from the Listing, the Group’s
capital expenditure and daily operations during the year ended
31 March 2020 were mainly funded by cash generated from its
operations and external borrowings.

Cash and bank balances as at 31 March 2020 was approximately
HK$8.1 million, decreased by approximately HK$6.7 million when
compared with HK$14.8 million as at 31 March 2019. The decrease
was mainly due to the cash used in daily operation and repayment
of bank borrowings.

The pledged deposits, including both the non-current and current
portions, as at 31 March 2020 was approximately HK$32.3 million,
increased by approximately HK$0.2 million when compared with
HK$32.1 million as at 31 March 2019, as a result of the interests
generated from pledged deposits.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had outstanding borrowings of
approximately HK$94.6 million repayable on demand or within
one year (2019: HK$94.5 million) and outstanding borrowings
of approximately HK$1.7 million repayable after one year (2019:
HK$2.9 million). The Group’s borrowings were denominated in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”"). The amounts due are based on scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements. For information
about the interest rate, please refer to note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements of this report.

The current ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2020 was 1.4 times
as compared to that of 1.4 times as at 31 March 2019. The gearing
ratio, being the net debt (defined as bank borrowings less cash
and cash equivalents and pledged bank deposits) divided by
net debt plus total equity at the end of the year, increased from
approximately 45.1% to approximately 46.4% as at 31 March 2019
and 31 March 2020, respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWEDT

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The shares of the Company were successfully listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange on 23 February 2018. There has been no change
in the capital structure of the Group since then. The share capital
of the Group only comprises of ordinary shares.

As at 31 March 2020, the Company’s issued share capital was
HK$8.0 million and the number of its issued ordinary shares was
800,000,000 of HK$0.01 each.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the prospectus dated 31 January 2018 (the
“Prospectus”) and this report, the Group did not have other plans
for material investments or capital assets as at the date of this
report.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s bank deposits with carrying
amounts of approximately HK$32.3 million (2019: HK$32.1 million),
invoices issued to customers with total amount of approximately
HK$24.0 million (2019: HK$37.4 million) and the financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$10.4 million
(2019: HK$10.0 million) were pledged to secure certain letters of
guarantee facility and banking facilities respectively, granted to
the Group.

As at 31 March 2020, Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen and two companies
controlled by Mr. Chow Mo Lam or his close family members
(namely, Polyfaith Holdings Limited and Polykind Far East Limited)
had pledged their properties to secure banking facilities granted
to certain subsidiaries of the Group for nil consideration.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group did not have any
significant capital commitments.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group provided guarantees in respect of surety bonds in
favour of customers of certain construction contracts. Details
regarding these guarantees are set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report. Save as
disclosed herein, there is no other contingent liabilities that the
Group is aware of.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

There were no significant investments held, acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies by the Group
during the Reporting Period. Saved as disclosed in the Prospectus,
the Group did not have other plans for significant investments,
acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries as at 31 March 2020.

EXPOSURE TO EXCHANGE RATE FLUCTUATION

The majority of the Group’s businesses is in Hong Kong and is
denominated in HK$, Renminbi and United States Dollars (“USD”).
As no material monetary assets or liabilities were denominated in
foreign currencies, the Group is of the opinion that its exposure
to foreign exchange rate risk is limited. Thus, the Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors foreign exchange exposure closely and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had 87 (2019: 87) employees.
Total staff cost (including Directors’ emoluments) were
approximately HK$39.4 million (2019: HK$36.1 million). The
remuneration package offered to our employees generally
included basic salaries, bonuses and other cash allowances or
subsidies. The Group determines the salary of our employees
mainly based on each employee’s qualifications, relevant
experience, position and seniority. The Group conducts annual
review on salary increase and promotions based on the
performance of each employee. The Group provides on-the-job
training to our employees and sponsors certain employees to
attend training courses.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted by the Company on 25
January 2018. Please refer to note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements of this report.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWEDT

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group mainly carries out its business in Hong Kong. To the
best of the Directors’ knowledge, the Group has complied with all
relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong during the year.

PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group believes that the risk management practices are
important and uses its best effort to ensure it has sufficiently
mitigated the risks present in our operations and financial position
as efficiently and effectively as possible.

- Changes in the cost of building materials and staff as well
as the subcontracting fees may result in cost overrun, which
could materially affect our results of operation and financial
performance;

- The Group may face difficulties in refinancing or increase in
cost of financing;

- Mismanagement or delay of our projects will materially
affect our reputation and also our financial performance as
penalties and/or additional costs may be incurred;

- Cash flow of our projects may fluctuate;

- We rely on subcontractors to complete our projects.
Underperformance of our subcontractors or unavailability
of subcontractors may adversely affect our operations,
profitability and reputation; and

- Our success significantly depends on the key management
and our ability to attract and retain additional facade and
curtain wall design team staff.

For other risks and uncertainties facing the Group, please refer to
the section headed “Risk Factors” in the Prospectus.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The Company has raised gross proceeds of approximately HK$56
million through share offer upon the Listing. After deducting the
listing expenses, the net proceeds were approximately HK$28.2
million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The actual net proceeds from share offer was different from the
estimate net proceeds of approximately HK$34.2 million as set out
in the Prospectus.

The Group adjusted the use of proceeds in the same manner
and in the same proportion as shown in the Prospectus, which
is (i) approximately 51.4% of the net proceeds, representing
approximately HK$14.5 million, would be used for strengthening
our financial position to capture emerging business opportunities,
including settling upfront costs of new projects and satisfying
the surety bond requirement of the projects, (i) approximately
39.8% of the net proceeds, representing approximately HK$11.2
million, would be used for expanding our operation teams,
and (iii) approximately 8.8% of the net proceeds, representing
approximately HK$2.5 million, would be used for working capital
and other general corporate purposes.

Analysis of the utilisation of the net proceeds from the Listing Date
up to 31 March 2020 is set out below:
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- Settling upfront costs of three new - XN ={EAHNBEEHN

projects T8 - B AN 9.2 9.2 9.2

- Satisfying the surety bond -BITHESHNER
requirement of Yue Man Square REEK 5.3 5.3 5.3
Expanding our operation teams BRF A & & B B 11.2 11.2 1.2
General working capital —MREEES® 2.5 2.5 2.5
Total st 28.2 28.2 28.2
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENGREEEBREFR

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chow Mo Lam, aged 66, is one of the controlling shareholders
(the “Controlling Shareholders”, which has the meaning as cited
under the GEM Listing Rules), an executive Director, the chairman
of the Board and a member of the Remuneration Committee. Mr.
Chow is one of the founding members of the Group and joined
the Group in February 2006. He is primarily responsible for the
overall business strategy, annual budget proposals and major
business decisions of the Group with a focus on our finance. Mr.
Chow was appointed as a Director on 25 May 2017, appointed as
the chairman of the Board on 9 August 2017 and re-designated as
an executive Director on 25 January 2018. He is also a director of
3 subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Chow obtained a Master of Business Administration from
the Henley Management College (which is, after merging with
another school, currently known as the Henley Business School)
in the United Kingdom through distance learning in 1995 and a
Master of Laws in People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) Law
from the Open University of Hong Kong in 2005. Mr. Chow is also
a fellow member of both the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants from the United Kingdom. Mr. Chow has around 21
years of experience in the construction industry, and has been a
founder, an investor and a manager of curtain wall companies in
Hong Kong and the PRC. He has been a director of CMD Aluminium
Industry (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd (IRE& 2B & & OFYI) BRAF]) (‘CMD
(SZ7)”), which is principally engaged in the manufacturing of curtain
wall in the PRC and wholesale of construction materials, glass
and aluminium products in the PRC, Hong Kong and Macau, since
February 2003, and gained experience in the curtain wall industry
for over 15 years therein. In February 2006, Mr. Chow co-founded
Polyfair Construction & Engineering Limited (“Polyfair HK”) with
other founding members, aiming to capture emerging business
opportunities within the construction industry in Hong Kong.

Mr. Chow is a proprietor of Albert Chow C.P.A., a certified public
accounting firm incorporated in Hong Kong which, save and except
for providing company secretarial service to Polyfair HK since
our establishment up to 1 September 2017, does not have any
business relationship with the Group.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen, aged 62, is one of the Controlling
Shareholders, an executive Director, the chief executive officer
of the Group and a member of the Remuneration Committee.
Mr. Yu joined the Group as an executive officer of Polyfair HK
in April 2009 and was appointed as a director of Polyfair HK in
February 2010. Mr. Yu is primarily responsible for the overall
business strategy, annual budget proposals, and major business
decisions of the Group with a focus on our operation and project
management. Mr. Yu was appointed as a Director on 25 May 2017
and re-designated as an executive Director on 25 January 2018.
He is also a director of 2 subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Yu has over 37 years of experience in facade and curtain wall,
aluminium window and entrance door construction, and project
and enterprise management in Hong Kong. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Yu co-founded Condo Construction & Engineering
Company Limited (subsequently known as Condo Curtain Wall
Company Limited) and Condo Engineering (China) Limited in 1983
and 1986, which specialised in the design, supply and installation
of aluminium windows, curtain walls, glass walls and metal
claddings in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC, and worked therein
until December 2002. During his service in these two companies,
Mr. Yu participated in business operations and was responsible
for overseeing the design, supply, installation and quality control
matter of projects.

ESRGREEREBEEFE

RAZRE 625 BIERBRERZ— - 17T
BEF  IAEBTHABERTNEEGKE -
RIEENR2009FLAMAREBEREETEERS
BRITREE  TR201005 28 EZTAE
BEBNEST REATEBEASEED
BREEXE FEBREERRIEER
AE ERHBEIRMOEEREEER - R
SER20177F5ABEZR T AESE - TR
2018F1HHFAREAITES - BMALR
AN BARIMES -

REECEBBINERER aERAQDM
BEUREEEGCEXEBEBEHEE7F
KB o RINAREER ZAT - RIEENI1983F
Mi1oseFEEMA T HRAI I IHEMEET
BERAG (ABABKMIRAERAR) Kin
MIE(FBE)ERAR  EFESRE B
EPBENRERE B HEEBELRSE
fREERE HERZEEL  HTZSE
NAFBE2002F128 - FEBRZMRA
AIHEME RAEASHEBLE AREEER
ERREr  HfE ZERESEHEH -

Annual Report 2020 —ZE - FFF 3§

15



16

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

ESRGREEREBEEFE

Mr. Wong Kam Man, aged 60, is an executive Director and a senior
project manager of the Group. Mr. Wong joined the Group as a
senior project manager of Polyfair HK on 10 August 2012. Mr.
Wong is primarily responsible for project management in terms of
construction programme, supervision of our subcontractors’ work
and implementation of quality assurance and/or quality control
procedures in compliance with contract specifications. Mr. Wong
was appointed as a Director on 9 August 2017 and re-designated
as an executive Director on 25 January 2018.

Mr. Wong is a holder of Certificate in Civil Engineering of the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Wong has over 37 years of
experience in aluminium and metal works construction in Hong
Kong. Mr. Wong worked for various construction and engineering
companies in Hong Kong including Wah Tung Metal Engineering
Co., PMB Cyberwall Ltd. and Chevalier (Aluminium Engineering)
Limited as a site supervisor, project manager and senior project
manager. He participated in numerous construction projects and
he was responsible for, among others, project planning, budgeting
and management, design monitoring, installation supervision,
quality control and coordinating with main contractors. Prior to
joining the Group on 10 August 2012, Mr. Wong worked as a senior
project manager at Wah Tung Metal Engineering Co. from February
2010 to July 2012.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah, aged 69, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 25 January 2018. He also serves
as the chairman of the Audit Committee, and a member of
the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee
respectively. Dr. Lung has been working as a lecturer at the School
of Continuing and Professional Studies of the Chinese University
of Hong Kong since 1996 and as an assistant professor at the City
University of Macau since 2013.

Dr. Lung was employed as a company secretary (November
2002 to October 2009) and financial controller (November
2002 to October 2008) of VST Holdings Limited, a main board
listed company (stock code: 856). He was also appointed as
an independent non-executive director of eprint Group Limited
(stock code: 1884) from November 2013 to August 2016. Dr. Lung
has over 30 years of professional and commercial experience in
company secretary, accounting and finance.

Dr. Lung is a fellow member of The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators in the United Kingdom and The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries respectively. He is
also an associate member of The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.
Dr. Lung obtained a degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Business
Administration from the Tarlac State University in the Philippines
through distance learning in November 2012 and a degree of
Master of Business Administration from the University of Macau
(formerly known as the University of East Asia, Macau) in February
1988.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

ESRGREEREBEEFE

Mr. Man Yun Yee, aged 68, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 12 February 2020. He also serves as
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member
of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee. He has
approximately 41 years of experience in auditing, accounting and
management. He is currently an engagement partner of Dickson
W. P. Mak & Co., a certified public accountants firm in Hong Kong.
He first joined Dickson W. P. Mak & Co. in May 2009 and served as
a senior auditor from May 2009 to April 2012 and from February
2015 to April 2016, and he has become an engagement partner
since May 2016.

Mr. Man obtained a master of professional accountancy from
Jinan University in the People’s Republic of China through distance
learning in January 2002. He was admitted as an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(formerly known as Hong Kong Society of Accountants) in May
2000 and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants in March 2005.

Mr. Wong Chi Yung, aged 36, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 25 January 2018. Mr. Wong also serves
as the chairman of the Nomination Committee, and a member
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. He
obtained a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration in
Finance and Management from The Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology in 2005. He is currently a licensed
representative under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ”)
to carry out Type 6 regulated activity (advising on corporate
finance). Mr. Wong has extensive experience in accounting and
corporate finance.

Mr. Wong is the vice president of INCU Corporate Finance Limited.
He was a non-executive director of China Information Technology
Development Limited (stock code: 8178) from July 2016 to June
2019 and a non-executive director of China Oil Gangran Energy
Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as Fairson Holdings
Limited) (stock code: 8132) from June 2011 to December 2013, and
also worked at SMI Management (HK) Limited, SMI Corporation
Limited and Ernst & Young.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wong Chi Kan Johnny, aged 53, is a senior design manager
of the Group. He is primarily responsible for general technical
and engineering work, preparing conceptual designs of tender
and ensuring that the use of building materials complies with the
contracts and the Buildings Department’s requirements. Mr. Wong
Chi Kan Johnny is a holder of Higher Certificate in Civil Engineering
of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He has over 30 years of
experience in the construction and engineering industry in Hong
Kong. He joined the Group on 1 March 2006 as a senior design
manager.

Mr. Wong Chi Kan Johnny has worked in various construction and
engineering companies in Hong Kong since February 1989 as an
assistant technical manager and later as a senior design engineer.
Prior to joining the Group, he worked in Nuclear Construction and
Engineering Co., Ltd. from January 2003 to February 2006 where
he was responsible for engineering design, and his last position
held was senior design engineer. Before that, he was employed by
Condo Curtain Wall Co., Ltd. as an assistant technical manager
from February 1989 to January 2003.

Mr. Chow Heung Wing, aged 51, is the project manager of the
Group. He is primarily responsible for planning, budgeting, and
managing our projects, and monitoring designs, work progress
and quality. He has approximately 22 years of experience in the
construction and engineering industry in Hong Kong. Mr. Chow
Heung Wing joined the Group on 5 October 2015 as a project
manager.

Mr. Chow Heung Wing has worked in various construction and
engineering companies in Hong Kong since 1986 as a site
supervisor and a project manager. Prior to joining the Group, he
worked in Empire (HK) Engineering Co., Ltd. from June 2014 to
June 2015 where he was responsible for assisting the project
manager on project management, and his last position held was
assistant project manager. Before that, he worked for Far East
Aluminium Works Company Limited as a senior site supervisor
between December 2011 and June 2014, responsible for assisting
the project manager to supervise site installation works.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

ESRGREEREBEEFE

Mr. Ning Gong, aged 32, is the project engineer of the Group. He
is primarily responsible for drafting structural designs of facade
and curtain wall, and preparing submission for the Buildings
Department’s approval. He obtained a degree of Bachelor of
Engineering in Harbour, Waterway and Coastal Engineering from
the Shanghai Maritime University in the PRC in 2010, and further
obtained a degree of Master of Science in Civil Engineering
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2011. Mr. Ning
has approximately 8 years of experience in the construction and
engineering industry in Hong Kong. He joined the Group on 9
March 2017 as a project engineer.

Mr. Ning has worked in various construction and engineering
companies in Hong Kong since October 2011 as an assistant
engineer and as a project engineer. Prior to joining the Group, he
worked in Chun Sing Engineering Co., Ltd. from August 2014 to
February 2017. His main duties during this employment were to,
among others, coordinate with clients and structural/geotechnical
consultants, conduct structural research, design foundation
system, develop construction methods and interpret and review
design work. His last position held was project engineer.
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of shareholders, enhance
the corporate value, formulate its business strategies and
policies, and enhance its transparency and accountability.

The Company has applied the principles as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company has complied
with the applicable code provisions as set out in the CG Code.
The Company will enhance its corporate governance practices
appropriate to the operation and growth of the business of the
Group.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors on terms no less than the required
standard of dealing as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules (the “Required Standard”) as the code for dealing in
securities of the Company by the Directors.

The Company has made specific enquiry with all Directors and
the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
Required Standard for the year ended 31 March 2020.

The Company has also established written guidelines (the
“Employees Written Guidelines”) no less than the Required
Standard for securities transactions by employees who are likely
to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information of
the Company. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees
Written Guidelines by the employees was noted by the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions
and performance and should take decisions objectively in the best
interests of the Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required from
a Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company, and
whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing them.

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises six Directors, consisting of
three executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors.

Executive Directors

Mr. Chow Mo Lam (Chairman and a member of the Remuneration
Committee)

Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (Chief Executive Officer and a member of
the Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Wong Kam Man

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah (Chairman of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee)

Mr. Man Yun Yee (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee)
(Appointed on 12 February 2020)

Mr. Wong Chi Yung (Chairman of the Nomination Committee
and a member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee)

Mr. Ng Ka Lok (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee)
(Passed away on 25 November 2019)

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior

Management” on pages 14 to 20 of this annual report.

None of the members of the Board is related to one another.
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Board Meetings

For the year ended 31 March 2020, 5 board meetings were held,
of which 4 meetings were regular Board meetings. Apart from
regular board meetings, the Chairman also held a meeting with
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of
other Directors.

Notice of at least 14 days are given to all Directors for all regular
Board meetings and the Directors can include matters for
discussion in the agenda if necessary. Agenda and accompanying
Board papers in respect of regular Board meetings are sent out
in full to all Directors within reasonable time before the meeting.
Draft minutes of all Board meetings are circulated to Directors for
comment within a reasonable time prior to confirmation.

Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board committees are
kept by duly appointed secretary of the respective meetings and
all Directors have access to Board papers and related materials,
and are provided with adequate information in a timely manner,
which enable the Board to make an informed decision on matters
placed before it.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of chairman of the Board and chief executive
officer are held by Mr. Chow Mo Lam and Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen,
respectively. The chairman provides leadership and is responsible
for the effective functioning and leadership of the Board. The chief
executive officer focuses on the Company’s business development
and daily management and operations generally.

Independent non-executive Directors

Following the passing away of Mr. Ng Ka Lok on 25 November
2019, the Company only had two Independent Non-executive
Directors and thus the number of Independent Non-executive
Directors and Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee
members fell below the minimum number required under Rules
5.05(1), 5.28 and 5.34 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
managed to identify suitable candidate to fill the vacancies within
3 months from the date of passing away of Mr. Ng Ka Lok as
required under Rules 5.06, 5.33 and 5.36 of the GEM Listing Rules.
Upon the appointment of Mr. Man Yun Yee as an Independent Non-
executive Director on 12 February 2020, the Company had met the
requirements set out in Rules 5.05(1), 5.28 and 5.34 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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Other than the period mentioned above, for the year ended 31
March 2020, the Board at all times met the requirements of the
GEM Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors, representing at least one-
third of the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers
all independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive
directors shall be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-
election. Code provision A.4.2 states that all directors appointed to
fill a casual vacancy shall be subject to election by shareholders
at the first general meeting after appointment and that every
director, including those appointed for a specific term, shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for an initial term of three years, and
will continue thereafter until terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company with an initial term of
three years and subject to termination in certain circumstances
as stipulated in the relevant letters of appointment.

One-third of the Directors are subject to re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (*AGM”)
pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company (the
“Articles”). The term of offices of every Director is also subject to
retirement by rotation at the AGM at least once every three years
pursuant to the Articles.
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Responsibilities of the Directors

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control
of the Company, and is collectively responsible for directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads
and provides direction to management by laying down strategies
and overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s
operational and financial performance, determined the policy for
the corporate governance of the Company, and ensures that sound
internal control and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are primarily responsible
for ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the
Company and providing a balance in the Board for bringing
effective independent judgement on corporate actions and
operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information
of the Company and may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other
offices held by them.

The Board reserves its right to decide on all major matters relating
to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of directors and other significant operational matters of the
Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of
the Board, directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and
management of the Company are delegated to the management.
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The Board also advocates the participation of independent non-
executive Directors and (if any) non-executive directors in various
board committees to safeguard objectivity and independence.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of
his appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and full awareness of
Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules
and relevant statutory requirements. The Board and each Director
should have a separate and independent access to and meetings
with senior management of the Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would
be arranged and reading material on relevant topics would
be provided to Directors where appropriate. All Directors are
encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s

expenses.
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The Directors have participated in the following training during the
year ended 31 March 2020:
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REE202063A3BItFE EEE L2 HE
T E

Directors Types of Training Nete BE=x 35 3 3 B
Executive Directors BITESE
Mr. Chow Mo Lam A&B S s AKB
Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen B R LIHE B
Mr. Wong Kam Man B | XA B
Independent non-executive Directors VHHITES
Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah A&B BEEEE L AKB
Mr. Man Yun Yee OB REE
(Appointed on 12 February 2020) A&B (720202 A12HE & T) AKB
Mr. Wong Chi Yung B FTEBXE B
Mr. Ng Ka Lok RRE 5
(Passed away on 25 November 2019) N/A (FA2019F 11 A25H EF i) TiEA
Note: M 5
Types of Training 55 31 58 B
A:  Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, A HBEBEIEMENE g F
seminars, conferences and workshops ERIHEHEEIRE
B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and B: MEMBEMERER WK  H7 - BER
relevant publications 1B T ¥
BOARD COMMITTEES EEZEg
The Board has established three committees, namely the Audit ExgRA-_xzEe(ExZES #ﬁ
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination MEEEeRREFEES) AEERAR

Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with
their authority and duties. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website and are available to shareholders upon
request.

The majority of the members of each Board committee are
independent non-executive Directors and the list of the chairman
and members of each Board committee is set out under
“Corporate Information” of this annual report.
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Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 25 January
2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules
5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph C.3 of the
CG Code. The written terms of reference of Audit Committee was
revised on 12 November 2018. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and removal of external auditors; review the financial
statements and material advice in respect of financial reporting;
and oversee internal control procedures of the Company.

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah,
Mr. Man Yun Yee and Mr. Wong Chi Yung. Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah is
the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee held 5 meetings for the year ended
31 March 2020, at which the Audit Committee reviewed the
quarterly, interim and annual financial statements and the
related results announcement, reports and documents and
attended various matters or issues raised by the Company’s
auditor, made recommendation to the Board the re-appointment
of the Company’s auditor, discussed and confirmed with the
management the effectiveness of the Group’s financial reporting
process, risk management and internal control systems, reviewed
the risk management and internal control systems and made
recommendation to the Board and reviewed the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance to comply with
the CG Code. It holds at least 2 meetings and meet the external
auditors once a year without the presence of the executive
Directors.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 25
January 2018 with written terms of reference in compliance
with Rules 5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph
B.1 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to make recommendations to the Board on the
overall remuneration policy and structure relating to all Directors
and senior management of the Group; to determine, with
delegated responsibility, the specific remuneration packages of
all executive Directors and senior management, including benefits
in kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including
any compensation payable for loss or termination of their office
or appointment; review performance-based remuneration; and
ensure none of our Directors determine their own remuneration.

As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee
currently consists of five members, namely Mr. Man Yun Yee, Mr.
Chow Mo Lam, Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen, Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah and
Mr. Wong Chi Yung. The chairman of the Remuneration Committee
is Mr. Man Yun Yee.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, 1 meeting was held by the
Remuneration Committee, at which the Remuneration Committee
discussed and reviewed the existing policy and structure of the
remuneration for the Directors and senior management, assessed
the performance of the Directors, recommended to the Board
the remuneration package of Mr. Man Yun Yee and approved the
remuneration packages of senior management of the Company.

Details of the remuneration of the senior management by band
are set out in note 10 in the notes to the audited consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.
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Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 25
January 2018 with written terms of reference in compliance
with paragraph A.5 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board on a regular basis; identify individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members; assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors; and make
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee currently
consists of three members, namely Mr. Wong Chi Yung, Dr. Lung
Cheuk Wah and Mr. Man Yun Yee. The chairman of the Nomination
Committee is Mr. Wong Chi Yung.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company’s Board
diversity policy, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and industry and regional experience etc. The
Nomination Committee would discuss and agree on measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary,
and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships,
the Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s
character, qualifications, experience, independence and other
relevant criteria necessary to complement the corporate strategy
and achieve Board diversity, where appropriate, before making
recommendation to the Board.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, 1 meeting was held by the
Nomination Committee, at which the Nomination Committee
reviewed the Board’s structure, size, composition and diversity,
assessed the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors, and made recommendation to the Board on the re-
election of retiring Directors and the appointment of Mr. Man Yun
Yee.
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Attendance Record for Board Meeting, EZ2€E  ZEZEZIRBREK

Committees’ Meeting and General Meeting SHELHE
The attendance record of each Director at the Board meetings, the BE202063A3NBIEFE  SEFHFEE
Board Committees meetings and the general meeting for the year EEE EFLZEGEARREREN
ended 31 March 2020 is set out in the following table: WEERIIT

Audit Remuneration  Nomination

Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meeting Meeting Meeting
B’ i L
Name of Directors BEEpS ExeeE ZESSE ZECgE ZEERER BREAE
Executive Directors BTEE
Mr. Chow Mo Lam (Chairman) BARMEL(EE) 5/5  NATER 171 N/AT 8 B 171
Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen RURKE
(Chief Executive Officer) (TTH %) 55  NATER 171 N/AT i 11
Mr. Wong Kam Man EWX %A 55  NATER  NATER  NATER 171
Independent Non-executive BIKGTES
Directors
Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah EEERL 5/5 5/5 17 2/2 11
Mr. Man Yun Yee (Note 1) X5 g (K ) 1/1 1/1 N/ATR i N/AZ i F N/AZ i A
Mr. Wong Chi Yung TEBERAE 5/5 5/5 il 2/2 il
Mr. Ng Ka Lok (Note 2) RFEEEE2) 3/3 44 N/ATE R 171 171
Total number of meeting(s) Y 5 5 1 2 1
Note 1: Mr. Man Yun Yee appointed as an independent non-executive B 51 - OB R A R2020F2 A 12HE R T
Directors on 12 February 2020. RENIFNITES -
Note 2: Mr. Ng Ka Lok passed away on 25 November 2019. FMf&E2 - RERLEFEATA2019911 A 25 H Bt -
Corporate Governance Functions hEEEREE

The Audit Committee is responsible for performing the functions EWZELES
set out in the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code. D3 BT B AE o
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take
in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, and establishing
and maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems.

The Group has adopted a three-tier risk management approach
to identify, assess and manage different types of risks. As
the first line of defence, business units are responsible for
identifying, assessing and monitoring risk associated with each
business or transaction. The management, as the second line
of defence, defines rule sets and models, provides technical
support, develops new system and oversees project management.
It ensures that risks are within acceptable range and that the
first line of defence is effective. As the final line of defence, the
independent consultant assists the Audit Committee to review the
first and second lines of defence.

The Group is committed to the identification, evaluation and
management of risks associated with its business activities
through ongoing assessment of a risk register, by considering
the likelihood and impact of each identified risk. The Group
has implemented an effective control system which includes
a defined management structure with limits of authority, a
sound management system and periodic review of the Group’s
performance by the Audit Committee and the Board.
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As the corporate and operation structure of the Group is not
complex and a separate internal audit department may divert
resources of the Group, the Group currently does not have an
internal audit department. However, the Group has engaged an
independent third-party internal control consultant to, on an
annual basis, review and provide recommendations on improving
its internal control system in order to manage our business
risks and to ensure our smooth operation. The review covered
certain operational procedures. No significant control failings
or weakness have been identified by the consultant during the
review. The Board and the Audit Committee would review the need
for an internal audit function on an annual basis.

The management has reported to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 31 March 2020. The
Board and the Audit Committee considered the risk management
and internal control systems effective and adequate. No
significant areas of concern that might affect shareholders were
identified.

Whistleblowing procedures are in place to facilitate employees
of the Group to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other
matters of the Group.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides
a general guide to the Directors, officers, senior management
and relevant employees of the Company in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding to
enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that
unauthorised access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.

Corporate Governance Report
TEERRSE

ERAEENCERREERBATEM - B
—EBIA BB MPIANE D EAEE
ORI Y TNE I SV - Sy
Fl- A AEREERE-R2BILFE=ZTR
MELTERESFRIANBEZERG LK
ERERMREHREBER  REZERMNE
BER THERLEEIES ZBRABES
TEFERERF - BRI B EIL &R
AERNEREERARLAPE -EFELE
REZEBEREBFRIREFEERARNE

=

amp
cr A

o

HE20200F3A3ALEFE EEEEME
FERERZEEREEABREERANSE
BERGHRAR EFEREREZEGARR
EREBRANDPEZRAEAREH - I
EmERIATREERREXNTENE NBT
E

AEERERERF  HTEEEVEREN
BATHASERERE AEPEERHE
MEEARFENTE ZRIRHBT

ARACHATRBERE  RARAESE 5
MAB EREEEMIHRERERE
ER - EEBEEMBEBELROEEHREH‘REZE
53l -

ARENEE MG EREE REREER

EREERABHEE -

Annual Report 2020 —ZE - FFF 3§

33



34

Corporate Governance Report
TEERRSE

Procedures and internal controls include:

i) Only designated persons are authorised to communicate the
Company’s corporate matters with investors, analysts, the
media or other members of the investment community;

i) Directors should report to the Chief Executive Officer
any potential or suspected inside information as soon as
possible for him to consult the Board for determining the
nature of developments, and if required, making appropriate
disclosure; and

i) Disclosure of inside information must be made in a manner
that can provide for equal, timely and effective access by
the public to the disclosed inside information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2020.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, the Directors are not aware
of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
pages 67 to 76 of this report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the Company’s external auditor of the
Company, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, in respect of audit services
and non-audit services for the year ended 31 March 2020
amounted to HK$1,100,000 and HK$18,000 respectively.

An analysis of the remuneration paid to the external auditor of the
Company in respect of audit services and non-audit services for
the year ended 31 March 2020 is set out below:
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Fees Paid/Payable

B/ ENEH

(HK$)

(A7)

Audit Services ZE R 1,100,000
Non-audit Services IEZ BRI

- Profits tax service - MISH R 18,000

1,118,000

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Cheng Wing Sze (“Ms. Cheng”) resigned as Company Secretary
of the Company on 11 November 2019 and Mr. Liu Ying Shun (“Mr.
Liu”) appointed as Company Secretary of the Company since 11
November 2019.

Mr. Liu has over 13 years of experience in auditing, accounting
and financial management. Mr. Liu has been a practicing member
of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since
2012. Mr. Liu obtained a Bachelor of Business Administration
from Lingnan University in December 2005. Mr. Liu was employed,
among others, by Shu Lun Pan Horwath Hong Kong CPA Limited
(an accounting firm which merged into BDO Limited on 1 May
2009) from January 2006 to December 2009 with his last position
as an senior associate; PricewaterhouseCoopers Limited as
a senior associate from January 2010 to April 2012 and from
January 2014 to August 2016 with his last position as a manager;
and Wong’s Kong King International (Holdings) Limited (a company
listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code: 0532) as a finance
manager from April 2012 to April 2013. Mr. Liu is the founder and
director of Zhong Pu CPA Limited, which principally provide audit
and advisory, consultancy, taxation services for clients ranging
from private entities to listed companies in Hong Kong.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Board has access to the
advice and services of Ms. Cheng (before 11 November 2019) and
Mr. Liu (from 11 November 2019) at all time in accordance with
Code Provision F.1.4 of Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.
Both Ms. Cheng and Mr. Liu has taken no less than 15 hours of
professional training for the year ended 31 March 2020 pursuant
to Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolution should be proposed for each substantially separate
issue at general meetings, including the election of individual
Director. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and poll results
will be posted on the website of the Company and of the Stock
Exchange after each general meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting and
Putting Forward Proposals at General Meeting

According to article 58 of the Articles, any one or more
Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
company secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in such requisition.

If a shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a retiring
Director for election as a Director of the Company at a general
meeting, pursuant to article 85 of the Articles, the Shareholder
(other than the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend
and vote at the general meeting shall send a written notice, duly
signed by the shareholder, of his/her intention to propose such
person for election and also a notice signed by the person to
be proposed of his/her willingness to be elected. These notices
should be lodged at the Company’s head office or the office of
the Company’s branch share registrar. The period for lodgement
of such notices shall commence on the day after the despatch of
the notice of such general meeting and end no later than 7 days
prior to the date of such general meeting.
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Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board and
Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries as mentioned above to the
following:

Address: Anli Financial Communications Limited
Room 1901-02, 19/F,
Shanghai Industrial Investment Building
48-62 Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2325 6661

Fax: (852) 3956 4350

Email: Polyfair@anli.com.hk

Shareholders are also welcome to make enquiries via the
online message form available on the Company’s website at
www.polyfaircurtainwall.com.hk and are reminded to lodge the
questions together with their contact information for the prompt
response from the Company if it deems appropriate. The Company

will not normally deal with anonymous enquiries.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS/INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance and
strategies. A shareholder’s communication policy was adopted by
the Board at the Board meeting held on 25 January 2018 aiming
to provide to the shareholders and potential investors with ready
and timely access to balanced and understandable information
of the Company. Extensive information about the Company’s
activities is provided in its interim report, quarterly reports and
this annual report, which are sent to shareholders of the Company.
The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings
and other general meetings. At the annual general meeting,
directors (or their delegates as appropriate) are available to meet
shareholders and answer their enquiries. The notice of the annual
general meeting is distributed to all shareholders at least 20 clear
days before the meeting. Separate resolutions are proposed at
general meetings on each separate issue and voting of which is
taken by poll pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules. Results of the
poll are published on both the GEM website and the Company’s
website. All corporate communication with shareholders will be
posted on the Company’s website for shareholders’ information.

The Company has not made any changes to its Articles for the
year ended 31 March 2020. An up-to-date version of the Articles is
also available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ABOUT THE REPORT

The Company is pleased to present this Environment,
Social and Governance Report (the “ESG Report”) on the
environmental, social, and governance (the “ESG”) aspects
with the initiative of outlining selected key performance
indicators (the “KPI(s)”), in accordance with the guidelines
of Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company has
complied with the “comply or explain” provisions set out in
such guidelines for the year ended 31 March 2020 in this
ESG Report.

In this ESG Report, the Company strives to disclose its
policies and practices towards the ESG aspects of the Group
in Hong Kong during the Reporting Period. All information
and data disclosed herein were based on formal documents
and internal statistics of the Group.

During the Reporting Period, the Company is principally
engaged in investment holding. The principal activities of
the Group include provision of facade and curtain wall work
solutions in Hong Kong.

ESG POLICIES

The Group incorporated corporate, environmental and
social responsibilities into its business strategies to
promote healthy entertainment to and integration of
society, contribute to environmental sustainability, achieve
healthy and harmonious developments of its staff as well
as continue to create long-term value for its stakeholders.
During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company has
implemented relevant ESG policies, which:

. are in compliance with the requirements of the relevant
laws and regulations on corporate ESG that have a
significant impact to the Group’s business;

. continue to facilitate social integration by actively
“eliminating racial
discrimination and building a harmonious society”;

implementing the concept of

. encourage the employees to raise their awareness
towards “energy and resource savings”, support
and promote energy saving and emission reduction
measures;
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. integrate green philosophy into the development of the
Group and ensure the Group is in compliance with the
environmental laws and regulations; and

. strive to establish healthy and harmonious
relationships with its employees, shareholders,
suppliers and other stakeholders.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Company consistently values the stakeholders that are
influenced by the Group’s operational activities including
clients, suppliers, employees, community groups and
government bodies, etc. We communicate irregularly through
various communication channels with each other in order
to build up a mutual understanding of each other’s vision
and expectation on environmental and social responsibility.
With reference of these, the Company develops a designated
environmental and social responsibility framework and sets
long-term objectives for the sustainable development of the
Company.

ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

The Group aims to protect the environment by minimising
environmental adverse impacts in daily operations, such as
energy saving and recycling of office resources. The Group
will continue to seek for better environmental practices
and promote the right environmental attitudes within the
organisation. In general, the Group endeavours to:

. comply with relevant laws and regulations and target
to achieve beyond minimum requirements;

. avoid or minimise air and greenhouse gas emission,
discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous wastes;

. make efficient use of resources;

. minimise negative impact of the Group’s activities on
environment; and

. promote the stakeholders to go green and re-assess
their operations environmentally.
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A1 EMISSION

Emissions refer to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous wastes.

As the Group is principally engaged in provision of facade
and curtain wall work solutions in Hong Kong, there were
neither significant levels of pollutants discharged into
water and land nor significant generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous wastes during the Reporting Period.
The main contributor to the Group’s carbon footprint is
greenhouse gas emissions caused indirectly from electricity
consumption in office.

We promote energy efficiency and emission reduction in all
operation processes. Nevertheless, the Group is committed
to protect environment by seeking to reduce the impact
on the environment especially regarding the reduction of
greenhouse gas emission and preservation of resources.

To achieve this, the Group has adopted various measures to
lower waste and consumption levels in our office and other
facilities:

- limit air-conditioning hours and maintain suitable
indoor temperature;

- switch off photocopiers, printers and computers after
office hours;

- unplug all equipment chargers and adapters when they
are not in use so as to reduce power consumption;

- clean the air conditioning and ventilation system
regularly; and

There are no relevant laws and regulations applicable to the
Group’s businesses on this aspect.
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BWE

As minimum environment impact results from the Group’s
operation, KPIs A1.4 and A1.6 are immaterial to the Group’s
operation and have not been disclosed in this ESG Report.
In addition, as there is no substantial hazardous waste
produced from the Group’s operation, KPI A1.3 is not
applicable to the Group and has not been disclosed as well.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group’s greenhouse
gas emission from energy indirect emissions (Scope 2)
resulting from electricity consumption were approximately
36.8 tonnes of carbon dioxide (“CO,”). The greenhouse gas
emission from other indirect emissions (Scope 3) resulting
from business air travel by employees were approximately
2.1 tonnes of CO,. The greenhouse gas emissions were
approximately 38.9 tonnes of CO, in total and approximately
447kg of CO, per employee.

Emission
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A1.2 Greenhouse gas emission

Year ended 31 March 2020

M2 BEREHRK B Z202053A31MHLFE
Scope 2 -~ indirect emission — CO, 36.8 tonnes
#BE2 - BEHFR - AR 36.81F
Scope 3 — other indirect emissions — business air travel  2,108kg
by employees
BES-EMEARFEN-—EERBMEZIR 2108F %
A2 USE OF RESOURCES A2E RfEA

The Group has implemented paperless concept in the
internal human resources management processes. It
includes paperless employee pay advice, leave application
form and company internal notice. In addition, the use
of recycled paper for printing and copying, double-
sided printing and copying have become the Group’s
internal practices. These practices greatly reduced paper
consumption and cost. The Group regularly collects and
evaluates printer usage data to monitor the effectiveness of
the paperless environment.

In order to reduce unnecessary usage and improve efficient
use of resources, the Group has established the “energy and
resource savings” policy, under which:

. lights and electronic appliances in workplace must be
turned off when they are not in use;
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. the temperature of the air conditioners shall be .

maintained at 25.5° C;

R #gRERHRSE

PR EHEFR25.5°C:

. computers, photocopy machines, printers and other . ETRTHSRBREEEER
office equipment must be turned off when the staff are SEH  TEDHE R HAh it A= R
off duty or on leave; #

. turn off lighting and air conditioning when the guest . FRE=BESEEETS &

room is vacant; and

. use of recyclable resources e.g. recycle paper, .

washable tableware shall be used.

The Group will continuously monitor and manage the use of
resources in order to reduce its operating costs as well as

the carbon footprints.

As there is no issue in sourcing water, KPI A2.4 has not been
disclosed in this ESG Report. Further, as only immaterial
water and packaging material were consumed in the Group’s
operation, KPI A2.2 and KPI A2.5 are not applicable to the SN
Group and has not been disclosed in this ESG Report.
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THEAR -

AEERBERERRERERNER
LA B A L 2 58 K AR KBk 2 B o

AR AN & B SR BUE KRR A 8
AEMBE MARE HEhkER
REWEWFEBBEIIEFRA2L < It
REBNLERHERIVENKE
BEME - BRENERA22MA25
TERANAEE  WARE HEk
ERABRETNTRE -

Use of resources

BERER

ENERGY CONSUMPTION-Electricity
BERHE-B

Total Electricity consumption (kWh)
BEhREE(TRE)

Total Electricity consumption per employee (kWh)
BREEEHEEE(TRE)

ENERGY CONSUMPTION

BE R H ¥

Total energy consumption-Electricity (MJ)
geRBFEE - EBHOLEE)

Total energy consumption per employee (MJ)
BEEERREFEE KEF)

PAPER CONSUMPTION

AHE

Total office paper consumption (kg)

MoK EREE(TR)

Total office paper consumption per employee (kg)

BEEEMRLAREAREE(TR)

Year ended 31 March 2020
B E£202053A31HILLFE
around 45,000kWh
#745,000F K B

around 520kWh
#)520F R B

Year ended 31 March 2020
B £202053A31HLLFE
around 163,000MJ
#7163,000K = H

around 1,900MJ
#491,900 K £ H

Year ended 31 March 2020
B E£202053A31HILLFE
around 3,200kg
#93,200F 7%

around 36kg

#4936 F 5=
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A3 ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

The Group promotes environmental awareness among
our employees and encourages them to work in an
environmentally responsible manner. To further promote
environmentally friendly office conditions, the following
methods are used:

1. all used printer cartridges are returned to the supplier
for recycling;

2. recycling bins are placed in the offices’ common areas
to separately collect waste paper for recycling;

3. employees are encouraged to print double-sided
documents to reduce paper usage; and

4. make sure its business operation comply with the
environmental law in Hong Kong and its operating
locations.

SOCIAL
B1 EMPLOYMENT

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had a total number of
87 employees in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group is
committed to providing a fair and respectful workplace for
our employees. The Group ensures our human resources
policies are in compliance with all applicable laws and
regulations and with reference to the general practice
and benchmark of the industry. A comprehensive system
of remuneration, incentive and performance management
system has been established to attract and retain talents
for our long-term and stable growth. The system consists
of basic salary, legal and extra benefits (i.e. mandatory
provident fund, medical and other insurance, annual leave,
sick leave and various subsidies), and monetary rewards
(i.e. discretionary bonus and sales commission) for the
employees.
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The Group understands that the employees are its most
important asset. The Group has established a human
resource policy, under which:

. employees are reviewed annually on a performance
basis with reference to the market standards for
consideration of promotion and/or reward;

. in order to promote a harmonious and mutual respect
working environment, a staff manual is established to
govern the recruitment, promotion, discipline, working
hours and leaves. The staff manual also stipulates the
anti-discrimination policies and employees’ code of
conducts;

. clear work processes according to professional
and ethical labour practices have been clearly
communicated to all employees. Certain policies
to govern employees’ affairs such as payroll,
attendance and termination are clearly set out in
staff appointment letters in compliance with the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the law of Hong
Kong); and

. diversity of workforce are promised, including in terms
of age, gender and nationality, as well as a culture of
equal opportunity. The management regularly reviews
the Group’s remuneration policy in relation to relevant
market standards.

During the Reporting Period, the Group is not aware of
any non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination and other benefits and welfare.
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B1 EMPLOYMENT B1{E &
As at 31 March 2020, all of the employees of the Group 20203 A31H - XEBEFBREY
are permanent staff and the distribution of workforce is ABERET BISMHEMMT:

summarised as follows:

Gender

Age distribution
i3]

S il

18-30 31-40 41-50 51-60 Over 60 Male Female
m 18-305% m 31-403% m 41-505% = 51-608% = 605K £ B kogc
As at 31 March 2020, the employee turnover of the Group is 20203 A31H - AEERE AR
summarised as follows: Batan T
Number Rate
HK Region ERBE AE oz
AGE DISTRIBUTION FWRoMm
18-30 18-30%% 5 83%
31-40 31-40%% 2 14%
41-50 41-508% 5 45%
51-60 51-605% 2 13%
Over 60 60m% A 1 14%
GENDER % 5l
Male B4 12 27%
Female pegi 3 30%
Total P
Employee turnover EEmAE 15 28%

46 Polyfair Holdings Limited B2 2 B R A T
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R #gRERHRSE

Number Rate
PRC Region R E it & AH b=
AGE DISTRIBUTION FRoM
18—-30 18-308% 0 0%
31-40 31-40%% 3 13%
41-50 41-508% 0 0%
51-60 51-60%% 0 0%
Over 60 605% A £ 0 0%
GENDER 14 7
Male B4 7%
Female pega 1 20%
Total 5t
Employee turnover BEMKZE 3 9%

B2 HEALTH AND SAFETY B2 ERZE

The Group always emphasises the importance of
occupational health and safety. Workplace health and
safety policies have been established in compliance with
applicable local laws and laws in the mainland China.
Assessments on these policies are conducted regularly to
keep our standards updated and practical. For any potential
problems that may jeopardise our employees’ health and
safety, the Group implements protective and improvement
measures to minimise any incidents. The measures taken are
listed below:

. provide auxiliary tools e.g. trolley, pump-action water
dispenser, ladder, etc;

. set up safety warning signs, banners and slogans in
the work sites;

. organise a series of trainings in relation to
occupational safety;

. conduct emergency response drills regularly

. install fire extinguishers, sprinklers, hose reels and
smoke detectors;

. prohibit smoking and drinking liquor in the workplace;

. arrange regular pests control; and

. support team members to achieve a healthy work-life
balance.

AEEFZSHBREXRRELE2NE
2 YEBRERMTARERTE
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Ei\ffélﬁﬁ KREBATT - HRATEER
&fE,JiJ%Eﬁizz’i\E’J EF'EJ% P&
B E eI AR RE S IE - BEIRMAME
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RiE #HgRERHRS

Appropriate measures will be continuously taken by the
Group to improve safety and health of the employees in

workplace.

During the Reporting Period, there were no material

accidents in the course of our business operation which gave

rise to any claims and compensation paid to our employees

and the Group is not aware of any non-compliance with

relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from occupational

AEBBEBRMEZER  NEE
BETIFSMOR 2 EERE -

RBEHE AEEREHLEBRRE
PREELEERNEERN  BREM
HRRABEEXMNHEE: FAANBE
REZE2THERERRERER2E
EieETETETENHEAEERS
EAFENHEBEIRIOEARNBR

hazards.

Year ended

31 March 2020

B £2020%F

INDICATORS EE 3A3MHLEE
Number of reportable injuries’ ATHMIERE 0
Injury rate? T 5kt &2 0%
Number of reportable occupational diseases 78 F B 3R B 2 75 = 0
Occupational disease rate® B 3£ M bt %o 0
Number of lost days* BARTIIER & 0 daysH
Lost day rate® BRITER S &5 0%

Note:

Reportable injuries refer to work-related accidents to
employees resulting in incapacity for a period exceeding
three days in HK or PRC.

The injury rate is calculated based on the number of injuries
per 200,000 hours worked (100 employees working 40 hours
per week for 50 weeks).

The occupational disease rate is calculated based on the

number of occupational diseases per 200,000 hours worked.

Lost days refer to the days that could not be worked as a
consequence of a worker being unable to perform their usual
work because an occupational accident or disease.

The lost days rate is calculated based on the number of lost

days per 200,000 hours worked.
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B3 DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

Being a facade and curtain wall work solutions provider
in Hong Kong, the Group recognises the importance of
professionalism and competence of its staff. The main
objective of training and development in the Group is to
help develop key competencies which enable individuals to
perform current or future jobs successfully.

The training and development programmes will be geared
towards the following objectives:

- strengthening the job skills/knowledge of employees;

- improving operational efficiency and productivity; and/
or

- developing the potential of employees for maximising
mutual benefit to individuals and the Group.

Types of training or development activities conducted:

- employee-initiated training/development activities
may include external programmes that are organised
by external training institutes, or by the Group; and

- employer-initiated programmes may take the form of
offering sponsorship for employees to attend external
programmes or organising such programmes in-house.

During the Reporting period, the Group made full use of
internal resource to organise various forms of training
covering management, customers service, financial, etc. to
the employees.
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B4 LABOUR STANDARDS

The Group fully understands that the exploitation of child
and forced labour are universally prohibited, and therefore
takes the responsibility against child and forced labour very
seriously. The Group prohibits any child and forced labour
in its operations. A system of comprehensive recruitment
processes is established requiring background checks
to be conducted on candidates and formalised reporting
procedures to address any exceptions found. The Group
also performs regular reviews and inspections to detect the
existence of any child or forced labour in the operations.
At the meantime, the Group also avoids engaging vendors
of administrative supplies and services and contractors
that are known to employ child or forced labour in their
operations.

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact relating to preventing child or forced labour on the
Group during the Reporting Period. In addition, no non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that resulted
in significant fines or sanctions had been reported in the
Reporting Period.

B5 SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Group’s general business suppliers include providers of
fabricated products, aluminium and steel, glass, installation
work and design services for construction projects.

The Group believes that the quality of its products and
services as well as its reputation will be influenced by
the work with its suppliers. Therefore, the Group has
established procurement policy to maintain high level of
ethical standards for choosing the right supplier through
careful selection and continuous measurement. The Group
conducts review on key suppliers annually so as to provide
an opportunity to suppliers to enhance their services and
products quality, which improves both the suppliers and our
procurement management effectively.
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In selecting new suppliers, the Group compares at least
three different companies and emphasises the legal
compliance and integrity culture of suppliers’ operations,
beyond cost considerations. On-site inspections and
research are conducted before the commencement of
business with suppliers, followed by annual examination and
evaluation in various aspects including occupational health
and safety, employee rights protection, environmental
protection and corporate social responsibility to ensure
suppliers operated in compliance with the national
standards or relevant requirement, and there are no child
labour or forced labour issues. The examination and
evaluation results will be used as the basis for continuation
or termination of cooperation in the future.

B6 PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

A high priority for the Group is to ensure customer
satisfaction in terms of our products and services.
Strenuous efforts are made to ensure compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations relating to product health
and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters of
the jurisdictions in which the Group operates. The Group’s
code of conduct requires its employees to comply with
applicable governmental and regulatory laws, rules, codes
and regulations.
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The Group is not aware of any non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group relating to health and safety, intellectual property
rights, advertising, labeling and privacy matters relating
to services provided and methods of redress during the
Reporting Period. The Group has in-house rules governing
the work procedures for the projects in order to ensure
work quality. The Group considers that the quality of
works generally depends on the quality of building
materials supplied and installation works performed by
subcontractors at construction sites, which in turn are
generally controlled by the Group’s quality control measures
on suppliers, including: (i) ensuring sufficient planning
prior to executing the project to ensure that quality control
measures and procedures are in place; (i) maintaining a
list of approved suppliers and only engaging those on the
list; and (iii) conducting sample inspections on building
materials supplied based on the technical specifications of
the relevant projects. Building materials that are defective
or that do not meet the specifications will be returned to
the suppliers. During the Reporting Period, our Group did
not receive any material complaint or demand for any kind
of compensation from the customers or subject to any
deductions, withholding, counter-claim or set-off due to the
quality issues in relation to the products and services.

B7 ANTI-CORRUPTION

Corruption, bribery or fraud in any form is strictly prohibited.
The Group’s anti-corruption policies set out standards of
conduct to which all employees are required to adhere in
order to promote the integrity of the workplace.

To combat corruption and to govern conflicts of interest,
ICAC seminars available to all Hong Kong staff on anti-
corruption have been conducted. In addition, unless with
prior approval from senior management, employees should
not give or accept any gifts, gratuities, favours or benefits
that are beyond common courtesies with accepted business
practices or any excessive entertainment. Breaches are
subject to disciplinary actions, including the termination of
employment contracts where necessary.
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We aim to maintain the highest standards of openness,
uprightness and accountability and all our staff are
expected to observe the highest standards of ethical,
personal and professional conduct. We do not tolerate
corruption, bribery, extortion, money-laundering and other
fraudulent activities in connection with any of our business
operations.

The Group adopted a whistle-blowing system for reporting
any improprieties in financial reporting, internal control,
suspected or actual fraud or other matters. Whistleblower
can drop an email directly to the Audit Committee. If they
prefer, they can choose to use an anonymous email address
to report the matters.

The chairman of the Audit Committee can call for a meeting
with the Board to investigate the reported matters.

The Board may also decide whether the Group needs to
appoint an external consultant (including professional
parties, ICAC or police, etc.) to deal with the reported
matters.

The Group is not aware of any potential or confirmed
cases regarding corruption practices brought against
the Group or its employees during the Reporting Period.
No whistleblowing disclosures were received during the
Reporting Period. The Group is not aware of any non-
compliant with relevant law and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.

B8 COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group is constantly aware of the needs of the community
and is ready to try its best to contribute to the community
by participating in and sponsoring community activities.

In addition, the Group encourages and supports its staff to
participate in volunteer services at the leisure times.
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Directors’ Report

ESERE

The Directors are pleased to present this Directors’ report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Since 2006,
the Group has mainly engaged as a subcontractor that provides
facade and curtain wall works solutions in Hong Kong. Details
of the principal activities of the Group’s subsidiaries as at 31
March 2020 are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report. The Group’s revenue for the year
was derived mainly from activities carried out in Hong Kong. An
analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is set out in note 5 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2020, assessment of the principal risks and uncertainties
faced by the Group, particulars of important events affecting the
Group that have occurred subsequent to the end of the year as
well as indication of likely future development in the business
of the Group are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. In addition, the
Group’s environmental policy, compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations that have significant impact of the Group and key
relationships with its stakeholders are set out in this Directors’
Report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 are set
out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 77 to 175
of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend any payment of final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: nil).

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements of the Group and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 79 of this annual report
respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2020, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to Shareholders amounted to approximately
HK$17,817,000. Such amount represented share premium net of
accumulated losses of the Company, which may be distributable
provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend
is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to
pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course
of business.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds amounting from the Listing on 23 February 2018
(the “Listing Date”) after deducting the underwriting fees and
other listing expenses in connection with the Share Offer were
approximately HK$28.2 million.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of significant related party transactions undertaken by the
Group during the year in the ordinary course of business are set
out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

The following transaction between certain connected persons (as
defined in the Listing Rules) and the Company had been entered
into or are ongoing for which relevant announcement, if necessary,
had been made by the Company in accordance with Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

As at 31 March 2020, Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen and two companies
controlled by Mr. Chow Mo Lam or his close family members
(namely, Polyfaith Holdings Limited and Polykind Far East
Limited), had pledged their properties to secure banking
facilities granted to certain subsidiaries within the Group for nil
consideration.

Pursuant to Rule 20.88 of the GEM Listing Rules, such transaction
is exempted from shareholders’ approval, annual review and all
disclosure requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company has complied with the requirements in
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules in respect of the above
financial assistance received.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the related party transactions
set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statement
constitutes connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Prior to the Listing, the Company had conditionally adopted a
share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) which became
unconditional and effect on the Listing Date. Particulars of the
Share Option Scheme are set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report. No share option has
been granted under the Share Option Scheme since the Listing
Date, nor was there any share option outstanding, exercised
cancelled or lapsed as at the date of this annual report.

Save as disclosed above, no rights to subscribe for equity or debt
securities of the Company have been granted to or exercised by
any Directors or their associates since the effective date of the
Share Option Scheme.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities
of the Group for the years ended 31 March 2016, 2017, 2018,
2019 and 2020, is set out on page 176 of this annual report. This
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

DIRECTORS

The Directors for the year ended 31 March 2020 and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Chow Mo Lam (Chairman)
Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong Kam Man

Independent non-executive Directors:

Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah

Mr. Man Yun Yee (Appointed on 12 February 2020)
Mr. Wong Chi Yung

Mr. Ng Ka Lok (Passed away on 25 November 2019)

In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles, Mr. Yu Lap On
Stephen (executive Director) and Mr. Wong Chi Yung (independent
non-executive Director) shall retire and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

In accordance with Article 83(3) of the Articles, Mr. Man Yun
Yee (independent non-executive Director) shall retire and, being
eligible, will offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

TERMS OF OFFICE FOR THE INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All the independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs”) were
appointed for a specific term of three years and subject to the
relevant provisions of the Articles or any other applicable laws
whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from their office.

The Company has received from each INED an annual confirmation
of his independence from the Group, and as at the date of this
report still considers them to be independent pursuant to Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date, and will continue thereafter
until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either party on the other.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has an unexpired service contract with the Group which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Particulars of the emoluments of the Directors on a named basis
for the year are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company did not enter
into or have any management and administration contracts in
respect of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no other transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the
Group’s business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party, or in which a Director or its connected entities had a
material interest (whether directly or indirectly) subsisted at the
end of the Reporting Period or at any time during the Reporting
Period.

DIRECTORS’
BUSINESSES

As at the date of this report, none of the Directors and their
respective close associates (not being the INEDs) are considered
to have interests in the businesses which compete or are likely to
compete with the businesses of the Group pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules.

INTERESTS IN COMPETING
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, the Directors and every one of them
is entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which the Directors or any of them, shall or may
incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or
omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty
in their offices or otherwise in relation thereto provided that this
indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud
or dishonesty which may attach to any of the Directors.

The Company has taken out and maintained Directors’ liability
insurance throughout the Reporting Period which provides
appropriate cover for legal actions brought against the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2020, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company or their
respective associates in Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which are required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, including interests and/
or short positions which they are deemed or taken to have under
such provisions of the SFO, or which will be required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Exchange
pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules were as
follows:

(@) Interests in shares of the Company
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Note: 600,000,000 Shares are directly held by C.N.Y. Holdings M 5E -

Limited, a company incorporated in British Virgin Islands with
limited liability, which is owned by Mr. Chow Mo Lam (“Mr.
Chow”) as to 83% and by Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (“Mr. Yu”) as
to 17%. Both Mr. Chow and Mr. Yu are executive Directors. By
virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chow is deemed to be interested in the
600,000,000 Shares held by C.N.Y. Holdings Limited. Each of
Mr. Chow, Mr. Yu and C.N.Y. Holdings Limited is regarded as
a Controlling Shareholder.

600,000,0000% A% 19 B 5k B Ik B
AR (—MRNEBE XS M
Y BBRARDEERHE + Mk
BERARABHARMTLE(E
EEDRRILZERE(TREED D
RIEABI% R17% M - FHELEER
REEHBRTES - REESH
NEEED - AEEWEERKE
£ 18 B BR 2 & #% A #9600,000,000
BARDPER DS - AL &
EERXBIERERARDT AR
WAERBRRE -

(b) Interests in shares of the associated (b) RAQTHE ELER M HER

corporation of the Company

Name of associated

Percentage of
shareholding in
Number of the associated

corporation Name of Director Capacity Long/short Position shares held corporation
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C.N.Y. Holdings Limited ~ Mr. Chow Mo Lam Beneficial Owner  Long position 83 shares et 83%
XBZERERAA B St ERBEAA e 83 A ¥

C.N.Y. Holdings Limited ~ Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen Beneficial Owner  Long position 17 shares Mot 7%
KBERERAA RURTHE EREAA A 178 R )

Note: 600,000,000 Shares are directly held by C.N.Y. Holdings M¥5E:  600,000,0008% DA KEBZERE

Limited, a company incorporated in British Virgin Islands with
limited liability, which is owned by Mr. Chow Mo Lam (“Mr.
Chow”) as to 83% and by Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (“Mr. Yu”) as
to 17%. Both Mr. Chow and Mr. Yu are executive Directors. By
virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chow is deemed to be interested in the
600,000,000 Shares held by C.N.Y. Holdings Limited. Each of
Mr. Chow, Mr. Yu and C.N.Y. Holdings Limited is regarded as
a Controlling Shareholder.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, none of
the Directors or the chief executives of the Company or
their respective associates had any interests and short
positions in the shares, underlying shares, convertible notes
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations as recorded in the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange as at 31
March 2020.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” in this report, as at 31 March 2020, so far
as was known to any Directors or chief executive of the Company,
the interests which would fall to be disclosed under Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or of whom were deemed to be directly
or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the issued capital of
the Company, or which were recorded in the register of interests
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO or have been
notified to the Company were as follows:
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Notes:

1. 600,000,000 Shares are directly held by C.N.Y. Holdings Limited, a
company incorporated in British Virgin Islands with limited liability,
which is owned by Mr. Chow Mo Lam (“Mr. Chow”) as to 83% and by
Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (“Mr. Yu”) as to 17%. Both Mr. Chow and Mr.
Yu are executive Directors. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chow is deemed
to be interested in the 600,000,000 Shares held by C.N.Y. Holdings
Limited. Each of Mr. Chow, Mr. Yu and C.N.Y. Holdings Limited is
regarded as a Controlling Shareholder.
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2. Ms. Hau Pak Sui is the spouse of Mr. Chow and she is deemed to be
interested in the 600,000,000 Shares, in which Mr. Chow is deemed
interested by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, and as at 31 March 2020, the Directors
were not aware of any persons (who were not Directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had an interest or short position
in the share capital of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Reporting Period was the Company or any
of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate with
the exception of granting of share options to subscribe for Shares
under the Share Option Scheme.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Save for those as disclosed in the above paragraph under
“Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interest and Short Positions in
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” and “Share Option
Scheme” in this Directors’ Report, at no time during the year were
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in or debentures of the Company granted to any Directors or their
respective spouse or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement to enable to the Directors to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate.
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NON-COMPETITION

Each of the Controlling Shareholders, namely C.N.Y. Holdings
Limited, Mr. Chow Mo Lam and Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen, entered
into a deed of non-competition in favour of the Company on 25
January 2018 (the “Deed”), details of which have been set out in
the Prospectus. The Company received a declaration from the
Controlling Shareholders in writing that each of the Controlling
Shareholders had complied with the terms of the Deed, including
all undertakings given by them in favour of the Company under
the Deed, during the year ended 31 March 2020. The independent
non-executive Directors have reviewed the declaration and were
satisfied that the terms of the Deed had been duly complied with
during the year ended 31 March 2020.

During the years ended 31 March 2020, the Board had not
received any written confirmation from any of the Directors and
the Company’s controlling shareholders in respect of interest in
any business (other than the Group) which is or is likely to be
directly or indirectly in competition with our business.

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS
AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers, customers and other stakeholders
to meet its immediate and long-term goals. During the Reporting
Period, there were no material and significant dispute between the
Group and its suppliers, customers and/or other stakeholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, the aggregate sales attributable
to the Group’s five largest customers and the aggregate
purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers were
approximately 95% and 49% of the Group’s sales and purchases
respectively.

During the Reporting Period, the aggregate sales attributable
to the Group’s largest customer and the aggregate purchases
attributable to the Group’s largest supplier were approximately
40% and 18% of the Group’s sales and purchases respectively.
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None of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholders, which
to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital, had a beneficial interest in any
of the Group’s five largest suppliers and customers during the
Reporting Period.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Shares during the period from the
Listing Date to 31 March 2020.

COMPLIANCE ADVISER’S INTERESTS

The Company and Sunfund Capital Limited mutually agreed to
terminate the compliance adviser agreement dated 25 January
2018 with effect from 7 May 2019, due to commercial reasons.
During the engagement of which, neither Sunfund Capital Limited
nor any of its directors, employees or associates had any interests
in the shares of the Company or any member of the Group, or any
right to subscribe for or to nominate persons to subscribe for the
shares of the Company or any member of the Group. The Company
appointed First Shanghai Capital Limited (“First Shanghai”) as its
new compliance adviser with effect from 29 May 2019. For further
information, please refer to the Company’s announcements dated
6 May 2019 and 29 May 2019. As at the date of this report, neither
First Shanghai nor any of its directors, employees or associates
had any interests in the shares of the Company or any member
of the Group, or any right to subscribe for or to nominate persons
to subscribe for the shares of the Company or any member of the
Group.

Pursuant to the compliance adviser agreement entered into
between the Company and First Shanghai on 29 May 2019,
First Shanghai received and will receive fees for acting as the
Company’s compliance adviser for the period commencing on 29
May 2019 and ending on the date which the Company complies
with Rule 18.03 of the GEM Listing Rules in respect of its financial
results for the second full financial year after the Listing Date.

EMPLOYEES AND EMOLUMENT POLICIES

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had 87 (2019: 87) employees.
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The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is
formulated by the Remuneration Committee based on their
merit, qualifications and competence. It is the Group’s policy to
compensate each employee fairly and equitably. The Group has
a system for measuring employees’ performance against agreed-
upon goals with specific performance standards. Performance
discussion is carried out on an ongoing basis and a formal
evaluation is conducted once a year to review employees’ overall
performance, achievements, and areas in need of improvement.
Salary review will be based on individual performance and subject
to the Group’s discretion.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 21 to 38 of this annual
report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

As a subcontractor that provides facade and curtain wall
works solutions in Hong Kong, the Group is subject to certain
environmental requirements in Hong Kong. The laws and
regulations which have a significant impact on the Group include,
among others, Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), Noise Control Ordinance (Chapter 400 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) and Public Health and Municipal Services
Ordinance (Chapter 132 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

We require our subcontractors to be in strict legal compliance
with the applicable environmental protection laws and regulations
during the whole term of engagement. During the year ended 31
March 2020, the Group did not receive notice of any environmental
non-compliance in Hong Kong addressed either to the Group or to
our subcontractors.

Discussions on the environmental policies and performance,
compliance by the Group with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group and the account of
key relationships between the Group and our stakeholders are
contained in the ESG Report on pages 39 to 53 of this annual
report.
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EEEHRE

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief,
having made all reasonable enquiries, the Group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group
during the year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float as
required under the GEM Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of the
Group the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group and discussed auditing, internal control and financial
reporting matters including the review of the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020 and this
report, with the external auditor. There were no disagreements
from the auditor of the Company or the Audit Committee in respect
of the accounting policies adopted by the Company.

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by the Company’s
auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu which will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment in the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

CHOW MO LAM
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 22 June 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Polyfair
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 77 to 175, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 March 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B BEN R E

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED (continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key audit matter
HRETER

HERZRARLQT
(REIESFHSEMAE T H R A
3 iz 3R (4]%)

FRESTEE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EANESFNAEERARENSE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and contract assets

ESENRNBERGHEENBETE

We identified the impairment assessment of trade
receivables and contract assets as a key audit matter
due to the significance of trade receivables and contract
assets to the Group’s consolidated financial statements and
the involvement of significant management estimates in
determining the expected credit losses (“ECL”) of the Group’s
trade receivables and contract assets at the end of the
reporting period.

BAF ISR B AR RA B B K RIE T R AR R
HEE DERESEERERANEEY BEEGA
MHREMEBEA DTS RAEE BEHESHE
WRERADEERBEBRNENEEFBNEAEE
Bl -

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s trade receivables and
contract assets, net of lifetime ECL of HK$2,857,000 and
HK$1,322,000 respectively, amounting to HK$14,930,000
and HK$115,569,000 respectively. As disclosed in note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements, the Group recognised
an amount of HK$54,000 and HK$560,000 of ECL of trade
receivables and contract assets respectively for the year.

MR202063A31H + BSEMNBZRUFERENEE N
% 2 B T8 Hi{= & 5518 5 51l 2,857,0005%8 7T K 1,322,000 T2 )
5 Bl 14,930,000 7T 12 115,569,000/ 7T ° k2047 & B 75 3R
KM EE EEEEERFRNESERRELEG
#)& EE /) T8 B (= B 5 18 9 554,000 JT K%560,00058 7T °
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Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment
of trade receivables and contract assets included:

1175 7 B 5 P U 5OE 2 A 494 25 R B BT £ e 2
FefE:

+ Understanding key controls on how the
management estimates the impairment allowance
for trade receivables and contract assets based
on ECL calculation;

- THREEEERBHEEEBRFAEZIETNES
FEW IR KB W EERER BT A AR5
12 i

- Obtaining an understanding of the management’s
impairment assessment for trade receivables and
contract assets based on ECL calculation;

- THREEEBENEHEEBEAEIETNES
FEU KA KA K B ERER A

» Assessing the reasonableness of key estimations
adopted by the management in determining the
ECL of trade receivables and contract assets,
including loss rates and default rates applied in
the calculation, with reference to their financial
background, creditability, ageing and likelihood
of collection with reference to repayment history
and/or past due status of respective debtors, and
forward-looking information; and

- FREEEREEESIREREREGNEENTE
HEEBERRANERGEARETAE 25
HERAMNEBREEREOEX  ER2BERKER
HBRLHER, LBHBERARFEEEN 2
BEFHES  FE  KRikREDAIEE: &



TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED (continued)

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key audit matter
HRESER

Independent Auditor’s Report
BYZBENRE

HERZRARLQT
(REESFHSEME LA HRA])
B £ iR R ()

ERETEIEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMHESOMEERARETSER

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

EZERNERE A EE @ E TG ()

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management of the Group assessed
lifetime ECL each of the trade
receivables and contract assets individually, after
considering the financial background, creditability,
ageing, and likelihood of collection with reference
to repayment history and/or past due status of
respective debtors. Estimated loss rates are based
observed default rates over the
expected life of the respective trade receivables and
contract assets and are adjusted for forward-looking
information.

the amount of

on historical

MG EMEBRRMT4AEE BEEENHERE
EEANFEE—BEFIRRFERAGHNEENEH
BHEEERESRE  ET2REBUERNERL
Bk/LBBER EEEUBER  FE KRR
KW EIAREE - fEtBRXDERTAHEBESE
WHRBERAHNEENEHERNBEERMFEN
Ko WA IEE R FHE -

Assessing the accuracy of the ECL calculation as at
31 March 2020 by checking with inputs applied to
the calculation, including loss rates and default rates
applied for the respective debtors, with the rates
determined by the management in their assessment.

BRZEFEMAEASRE(BESERERNEE
REENR)EEEBRETHPRETHLL R T
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B BEN R E

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BEBXERERQF
POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED (continued) (KRB 27 BT aF R A])
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability) 5l £z g R (4&)
Key Audit Matters (continued) AREFTEIE(E)
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BHRETER BEMNETNETEEBREESEE
Recognition of revenue from construction contracts
ERKEEEEH N 2

We identified the recognition of revenue from Our procedures in relation to recognition of revenue from

construction contracts as a key audit matter due construction contracts included:

to its significance to the Group’s consolidated

financial statements and involvement of significant HMBEBBRREEEESNON KR EMNEF R

management estimates in determining estimated

outcomes of the construction contracts. + Obtaining an understanding of the Group’s controls
and processes over revenue recognition, budget

BMBERREEZEANN N EHI AERETE preparation, and determination of estimated

HDEREYE BEENGAVERERMEBE outcomes of construction contracts;
K BERETEESGYVNGHFRKEESIRNERER
=R . Tﬁ@ EEBEEHANGHER BERIEUALETE

AN RNEERERF:

« Verifying the reasonableness of estimated total costs
by agreeing to the latest costs quotations provided by
major subcontractors/suppliers/vendors, on a sample
basis, and understanding from the management
of the Group to evaluate the reasonableness of
their estimated total contract costs, taking into
account of factors including the profit margin of
similar construction contracts, the duration and the
complexity of the construction contracts, on a sample
basis;

- EBMBLBATIESER HER RBHER
RUNSRHAAREERE SKEEEBNIER - b
S EGLFBAOKRAREAE  EREEEUR
EAOMFIBER  ZEAONBRIEMRUEFHE -
DB ERARAKARE G E
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED (continued)

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key audit matter
HRESER

Independent Auditor’s Report
BYZBENRE

HEBRZRARLQT
(REESFHSEMELH R A])
B i iR R ()

ERETEIE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMHESOMEERARETSER

Recognition of revenue from construction contracts (continued)

BRKEEEE KW 25 ()

The Group recognised revenue from provision of
construction services of HK$229,809,000 during the
year ended 31 March 2020.

REE202053831H IEFE -
£ AR 1% 89 Uk 25 229,809,000 7T ©

BEREmREHE

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, revenue from provision of construction
services is recognised by reference to the progresses
toward complete satisfaction of these services.
Budgeted contract costs and profit margin are
prepared by the management of the Group on the
basis of quotations from time to time provided by the
major subcontractors, suppliers or vendors involved
and the experience of the management of the Group.
In order to keep the budget accurate and up-to-date,
the management of the Group conducts periodic
reviews of the budgets of contracts by comparing the
budgeted amounts to the actual amounts incurred.
Such significant estimate may have impact on the
revenue recognised in each period.

HMANERE MG MR 4R E - IR EERB K
B I2REEZAREZERBHELEERR - BEEE
MEREBERAMPIENS BB  HERMNIRS H#
EETREHNRENE EREEEENERAR
BEANRARMNBR SRFBAELERASHK -
BEXEEMEEEE AR KRESREERCE
T8 RAGHERE FREEXMAEAAEREREH
FMHEROERELTE -

Checking the budgeted contract costs to construction
contracts and supporting documents in relation to
the variations and claims included in the budgeted
contract costs and relevant cost documents, and
comparing actual results with the budgets, on a
sample basis; and

MERERELANAEANKNARERESORR
P51 1& AN T2 M 5A R B B8 /O 38 BA S DA SR AR B8 Ak AR XX
e UHREEGERERE K

Evaluating the calculation of revenue and verifying the
inputs relating to the calculation, including obtaining
payment certificates/cost documents in relation to
construction costs incurred and calculation of profit
margin determined with reference to the budget, on a
sample basis.

MEFERENAE T EY R ERFETZARD
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B BEN R E

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BEREZERBRAA
POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED (continued) (REISEHSFMA T ERLA])
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability) 5l £z g R (4&)
Key Audit Matters (continued) EREEFTTEE(E)
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BREETEE BRMANETNAEERARETSE
Recognition of revenue from construction contracts (continued)
EREKEEZES KW 2 ()

Recognised amounts of contract revenue
from provision of construction services reflect
management’s best estimate of each contract’s
outcome and value of works completed, which are
determined on the basis of a number of estimates.
This includes the assessment of the profitability
of on-going construction contracts. For more
complex contracts in particular, costs to complete
and contract profitability are subject to significant
estimation uncertainty. The actual outcomes in terms
of total cost or revenue may be higher or lower than
estimated at the end of each reporting period, which
would affect the revenue and profit or loss recognised
in future years as an adjustment to the amounts
recorded to date.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED (continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged
with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B BEN R E

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED (continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED (continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Independent Auditor’s Report
BYZBENRE

BRERERERAT
(REEBERME LI ERAF)

51 iz B 3R ()

BB R BT REMBERRAE
& (&)

PR H A E /I

FEEEMRASTRENRELER
EH Gt AT AR EN SN

HEERAKEKLSHERNR
EUHELER - RIRAMERES
BE O BMEERLAGFEREEXIBMN
BRANEATHEELE M8
 BEEENFERKERNIELER
RE - -MRBEMARBRSFEEATEE
- AIELEEREENRE PIRFE
REIBREMBHRRTPNMEEKE -
SERBHORESRE  MRMAEEH
RFERBEER - HANEREER
= BB S B LR TS R B AHER -
A KRREHEILBAAELER =

SETREFELE -

FERAVBREINEBERIIHT A

RBENAD  BEEE UARGEEY
BHRERETERMRIHMEIR -

B EEEANERIEBEDHNHMG
ERERGTRE  BENFNRE MU
BHHEAVBHRRERER - RAA
BEEBEEFNOR  EERST R
MREFERAREZAESE -

BPEREERETE

MEEE  BRZH  BEAESABRRSE
BIE IR APIFE B 5T P 3 B H A A 4 Y A
BERERRE -

Annual Report 2020 =& = Z F F 3}

75



76

Independent Auditor’s Report
B BEN R E

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED (continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related

safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Yu Kin Man.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

22 June 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

REeEBEREMEEEBARX

For the year ended 31 March 2020

B £202063A31BIEFE
NOTES 2020 2019
Bt 51 20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Revenue U 2= 5 229,809 215,778
Cost of services BR 75 BX 7R (212,292) (2083,426)
Gross profit E H 17,517 12,352
Other income, gains and losses Hap A - e & E 18 6 463 1,947
Impairment losses under expected BEHEEEEENXTH 7
credit loss model, net of reversal el (B &5 18 (F0 B £ =) (622) (1,794)
Administrative expenses THHAX (11,209) (14,185)
Finance costs A& KA 8 (5,557) (5,203)
Profit (loss) before taxation B BT 5 A (5 48) 9 592 (6,883)
Taxation credit BIEE R 11 2,477 302
Profit (loss) for the year FRmF (EE) 3,069 (6,581)
Other comprehensive expense Hth 2 HEAX
Item that may be reclassified HEA e EF 7R E B m
subsequently to profit or loss: H)HE A
Exchange difference arising on BMEBINEEE S &
translation of foreign operation &5 =% (30) (58)
Other comprehensive expense for the SR E it 2 E
year (30) (58)
Total comprehensive income FAEEBA(FX)BEE
(expense) for the year 3,039 (6,639)
13 HK cents HK cents
Al &AL
Earnings (loss) per share — basic BRAEMN(EE) —EX 0.38 (0.82)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mE AR R X
At 31 March 2020
R202093H31H

NOTES 2020 2019
B = 20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH& T
Non-current assets IEMBE E
Property, plant and equipment Y BENEE 14 890 1,372
Right-of-use assets TREEE 15 1,366 -
Rental and other deposits HekEMize 19 - 472
Financial assets at fair value EAFEFAEEN 16
through profit or loss SREE 10,360 10,023
Deferred tax assets EERIBE E 26 756 609
13,372 12,476
Current assets MENE E
Contract assets BRIEBE 17 115,569 104,564
Trade receivables 2 5 WK IE 18 14,930 23,616
Prepayments, deposits and other BNFRE Ze Rk 19
receivables B b e W R IR 5,142 2,640
Tax recoverable A] Uy (=] Fi 18 1,019 1,013
Pledged bank deposits BEEBBETER 20 32,313 32,141
Bank balances and cash RITHEHR LIRS 20 8,099 14,791
177,072 178,765
Current liabilities mE)BE
Trade and other payables B 5 Kk H A B RIE 23 28,335 32,425
Lease liabilities HEBE 24 1,428 -
Tax payable FE S 7 1E 10 =
Bank borrowings AT 25 96,268 97,363
126,041 129,788
Net current assets mEEEFE 51,031 48,977
Net assets BEFE 64,403 61,453
Capital and reserves BRI
Share capital N 27 8,000 8,000
Reserves i 1% 56,403 53,453
Total equity 7 = R 64,403 61,453

The consolidated financial statements on pages 77 to 175 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 22
June 2020 and are signed on its behalf by:

CHOW MO LAM
=)
DIRECTOR
o
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YU LAP ON STEPHEN
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DIRECTOR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MERRBEX

For the year ended 31 March 2020
E 20206 3A31HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

of the Company issued as consideration of acquiring Polyfair
Construction & Engineering Limited (“Polyfair HK”) and issued share

capital of Polyfair HK pursuant to a group reorganisation completed

on 19 January 2018.

NG 2PN 3
Share Share Other Translation  Retained
capital  premium reserve reserve profits Total
BA  ROEE HittFEe RERE RKREEA @5t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
TEL TET TET TET THET TET
(Note)
(B &%)
At 1 April 2018 R2018F4A1H 8,000 37,915 3,000 100 19,077 68,092
Loss for the year FREAR = = = = (6,581) (6,581)
Other comprehensive expense FREMEE
for the year 53 - - - (58) - (58)
Total comprehensive expense for  FRZ2E A X
the year g - - - (58) (6,581) (6,639)
At 31 March 2019 20196 3H31H 8,000 37,915 3,000 42 12,496 61,453
Adjustment upon REMREBHBERE
adoption of HKFRS 16 R F165R AR
(note 2) GEN)) - - - - (89) (89)
At 1 April 2019 R201954A18
(restated) (R E3) 8,000 37,915 3,000 42 12,407 61,364
Profit for the year F R & - = = = 3,069 3,069
Other comprehensive expense FREMER
for the year A - - - (30) - (30)
Total comprehensive (expense) ~ FAZ@E (FX)
income for the year DoN = - - - (30) 3,069 3,039
At 31 March 2020 R2020F3A31H 8,000 37,915 3,000 12 15,476 64,403
Note: Other reserve represented the difference between the share capital WeE: HMRFEEBAQRBEITEARES®

ERIBERARATEERB)HRE
B A% 7N B2 AR 4% 72201841 A 19H 58 X B
EEEHBREACDRITRAZENE
o
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= AN = B
mERERER
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B Z20205F3A31B IEFE

2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TAEL
Operating activities KEED
Profit (loss) before taxation BR B AR 7l (B 18) 592 (6,883)
Adjustments for: FTAEE EEMAE:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment mE BERSBNE 534 490
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 1,873 =
Fair value gain on payments for life insurance ASRBREMFMN
policies AFEKR (337) (1,635)
Finance costs RERKAK 5,557 5,203
Interest income FlEUA (181) (147)
Impairment losses under expected credit loss BHEEBREA THRESR
model, net of reversal (NE B =) 622 1,794
Operating cash flows before movements in working &84 & Z a1 &)
capital REHENE 8,660 (1178)
Decrease (increase) in trade receivables B 5 WA R D (M) 8,632 (8,571)
(Increase) decrease in contract assets BHEEM®M B (11,565) 728
(Increase) decrease in prepayments, deposits and BANME ek AMERNE
other receivables (42 0) 8 > (2,080) 2,223
Decrease in trade and other payables B5 R EA M RIER D (4,046) (14,335)
Decrease in contract liabilities AHEERD - (627)
Cash used in operations mEMARS (399) (21,760)
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded (paid) RE(BFA)BBHEH 2,342 (1,840)
People’s Republic of China Enterprise Income Tax BRREARLA
paid CEREHR (5) (14)
Net cash from (used in) operating activities REEHMEMA) RS FH 1,938 (23,614)
Investing activities REBED
Interest received B IKF & 181 147
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BENE BERSHE (62) (308)
Placement of pledged bank deposits BFABEHBETER (172) (140)
Net cash used in investing activities REGZHMARSEHE (53) (301)
Financing activities BERE
New bank borrowings raised I RITER 462,043 589,893
Repayment of bank borrowings EBRITEX (463,138) (609,722)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEERRE (1,864) -
Interest paid B E (5,557) (5,209)
Transaction costs attributable to issue of shares BIORMEENR SR A - (485)
Net cash used in financing activities REEHMAE S TE (8,516) (25,517)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents BeRBALEBMRDFRE (6,631) (49,432)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  FHIMBERBLEED 14,791 64,313
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes NEEXZB MY 2 (61) (90)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year ERNBRERREEFEY 8,099 14,791
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents: BeRkReEBUHIT:
Bank balances and cash RITEHBRE® 8,099 14,791
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

General

Polyfair Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
and registered as an exempted company with limited liability
in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law Chapter 22
(Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands on 25 May 2017 and its shares have been listed
on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) with effect from 23 February 2018. Its
immediate and ultimate holding company is C.N.Y. Holdings
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
(the “BVI”). It is held as to 83% by Mr. Chow Mo Lam (“Mr.
Chow”) and 17% by Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (“Mr. Yu”). The
addresses of the Company’s registered office and the
principal place of business are set out in the section headed
“Corporate Information” to the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company
and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in providing
design and project management services for facade and
installation of curtain wall systems. The Company and all of
the subsidiaries are collectively referred to as the “Group”.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

e B AR Y A

For the year ended 31 March 2020
E 20206 3A31HILFE

—RER
ERERER AR TARRA]L KR2017
FoAWARBHREREERE2ER
AE(1961F 5 Bl = » K45 A RIEFT)
FRASHESAME LT ELAERR
BRAR - BEMKRMBE2018%2H23H
BRBEBBER AR AR ([HR
FTl)GEMETM - EEEREKREZERA
AAKBERBRAR - ZAR AR
EBEAZEEFMAZAAA - 55
HARMEETRAEEDRARUTE
E(REEDEESBWRI7T%HEZR » &
AR MM EE A R EEEE
BHRERIARER]—FIR -

ARABREZERRT - LB A
TERERBINERANEEEER
BUARERERLRNER - AR A
REMBEWMBARGRESIANER] -

HAaMBRRAETES
RARRBNEEE -
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B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mRAEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

2. Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group have applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs and an interpretation issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the
first time in the current year:

HKFRS 16 Leases

HK(IFRIC) - Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

Amendments to Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

Amendments to Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
HKAS 19 Settlement

Amendments to Long-term Interests in Associates and
HKAS 28 Joint Ventures

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs and an interpretation in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in the
current year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 “Leases”, and
the related interpretations.

82 Polyfair Holdings Limited E 31 R R A =)

BRI EEMBHREERR
B8 B 1 & 2 A (18 7T &)

A 58 | £ B FTR] B R
MEBRELEAREEMBRE
2 Al (8 7] &)

ARBERAFEEEREATIHRE
7 & R A A B M AR AT & B S R
EEARE BB R EE(ERTA)
Akt

BBMBERE He

£ Bl 1655
58 (BERTHEHR MENEERN
EREBZEY) N E M

- R EEBH

EEUBRE BEEMIEREER
B (BF]A) 20158 £20174F

EE R F

BRI ER BELCHRE
F195% 5
CHEY)

EH G ER REERTRE Y
5285 CENRBES
(EETA)

BT XA &SN RAFEEREAEE]
BRMBREEY RBBREREAE
AT RN U R 2B AKEAFE
FBEFENHBRARKRREL, &
FEEMBRERABORBEFTHL E
EXFE-

ERMBEREEDF165KHE]

AEEERAFEEREABE BB
HELERNFE6 - BEMB RS ER
FIOFBMAREF LG EE175RHE
KA ®RE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply
HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified as
leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC) — Int 4 “Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease” and not
apply this standard to contracts that were not previously
identified as containing a lease. Therefore, the Group has
not reassessed contracts which already existed prior to the
date of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1
April 2019, the Group applies the definition of a lease in
accordance with the requirements set out in HKFRS 16 in
assessing whether a contract contains a lease.

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with
the cumulative effect recognised at the date of initial
application, 1 April 2019.

As at 1 April 2019, the Group recognised additional
lease liabilities and measured right-of-use assets at the
carrying amounts as if HKFRS 16 had been applied since
commencement dates, but discounted using the incremental
borrowing rates of the relevant group entities at the date of
initial application by applying HKFRS 16.C8(b)(i) transition.
Any difference at the date of initial application is recognised
in the opening retained profits and comparative information
has not been restated.

mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
B £ 20206 3A31B IEFE

ERAMIEET B REER
RE BV HHREER (BT )

(%)

A F 58 6 £ B HE] B8
MEBRELEAREEMBRE
2 Al (18 7 &) (4)

EEMBREERF16REE ]
(&)

HENER

AEBEEREATERES A BLER
FERBEEGFERE7R LT B (E
RUMBHRERBERES) — 2EFL
HIBEETLHREEREEIRMNAE
ENANERBE BV RS ENF6
St MIEFLEA L RBEBI S ERER
EMENERAZER - Bt AEHE
VTEREFFHEREXERBRANCF
EHAEH -

HRTE2019F 4 A1H sk 2 1& 7] 3 315
AHER  AEERBEEBMBRSE
ERIE16HEEREARENEHGT
HZEHNRERIERE -

ER AR A

AEBEBYERS SIS HRE EL
F165% - W HXEHABH20194 44
1THHERRGHE -

MR2019% 4818 - BBRERE BB
3245 2 A1 5516.C8(b) () 1§ A9 3B JE 1§ X
AEEERFEREERBEINEEEBER
HEFRAREE MUBEEMBERE
ERAF16RERFRBARER -
RAEAEEERENEXEAAMSEN
BB REITING - REXER
HEAR A ZB N YR BRI H#ER -
My EENLBRER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mRAEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020

HE2020F3A318ILEE

2. Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

(continued)
HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

ERAMIEET B REER
gﬁ%ﬂﬂﬁiﬁ%ﬁﬂu (ERT &)
IIE

A 58 | £ B FTR] B R
MEBRELEAREREMBRE
2 Al (18 7 &) (4)

BB BREERNE16%HE]
(%)

EREMEANE)

When applying the modified retrospective approach under REE A CESE R ERERAE BT
HKFRS 16 at transition, the Group applied the following EREXERE16500 - AEB T —
practical expedients to leases previously classified as HARMBRBREB S EAE175R D
operating leases under HKAS 17, on lease-by-lease basis, to AKEHENHEZRHERZERTS
ATEBERANERBEESNER
ERR)

the extent relevant to the respective lease contracts:

EETHREPRNBEREREN
FE A 1218 A 7R JE R E TE B R
REEEREERRE:

elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for leases with lease term ends within 12
months from the date of initial application;

REXERENAECREEE
B 5 BRI B AN - ]

ii. excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right- ii.
of-use assets at the date of initial application; and

ii. applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases i, BEOLEIIRE THECER A
BMEEMGNHBEUNEER
BEAE—FHEE-

with a similar remaining terms for similar class of
underlying assets in similar economic environment.

84 Polyfair Holdings Limited B 2% i fg /5 IR A T



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

When recognising the lease liabilities for leases previously
classified as operating leases, the Group has applied
incremental borrowing rates of the relevant group entities
at the date of initial application. The weighted average
incremental borrowing rate applied is 4.23%.

mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
B £202063A31B IEFE

ERAMIEET B ®REER
%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁm
IIE

A F 58 6 £ B HE] B8
MEBRELEAREEMBRE
2 Al (18 7 &) (4)

EEMBREERF16RHEE ]
(&)

ERABRANE)

RERLTHOBEAKERENTEE
MEERER ASECERBAHEE
B 'R N E X ER B R EE & FRA
K o B F& R O D0 HE 15 5E 5E B KA R
754.23% ©

At 1 April 2019

R2019%F
4A1H
HK$°000
FAET
Operating lease commitments disclosed as at 31 12019 3H31H K & 1Y
March 2019 e AE 4,020
Less: Recognition exemption — short-term lease &l ERA R — R HHAE (481)
3,539
Lease liabilities discounted at relevant 20194 R1R B E A E B I
incremental borrowing rates relating to HEERF16HEFEERALE
operating leases recognised upon application TH & A A B 1 AR R I 8 R X
of HKFRS 16 as at 1 April 2019 FHERNEEAR 3,329
Analysed as DT
Current B 1,876
Non-current IETR B 1,453
3,329
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

2. Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

The carrying amount of right-of-use assets for own use as
at 1 April 2019 comprises the following:

ERAMIEET B REER
&E%Eﬁﬁiﬁ%ﬁﬂu (ERT &)
IIE

A 58 | £ B FTR] B R
MEBRELEAREREMBRE
2 Al (18 7 &) (4)

BB BREERNE16%HE]
(%)

ERABRANE)

R2019F4A1HE BERAEEENR
HESFEIATZIHE:

HK$°000
FHETT
Right-of-use assets relating to operating leases £ 7 & F3 & 7 B 75 3R &5 2 BI 251657 5
recognised upon application of HKFRS 16 B R HEB@E®
(Note) = AEEE M) 3,276
By class: tg Sl
Offices i /NES 3,276

Note: As at 1 April 2019, the Group had refundable rental deposit
paid of HK$410,000. Based on the definition of lease
payments under HKFRS 16, such deposit is not payment
relating to the right to use the underlying asset and the
carrying amount of such deposit should be adjusted to
amortised cost and such adjustments should be considered
as additional lease payment. However, no refundable rental
deposit paid has been adjusted to the carrying amount of
right-of-use assets as the amount is insignificant.

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A

MizE: 201964818 AEBEED
AR 178 & 1% ©410,00008 7T ©
RIEE S 015 & R 165818
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

The following adjustments were made to the amounts
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial

mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
B £202063A31B IEFE

ERAMIEET B REER
gﬁiﬁﬂﬁ%iﬁ%i&ﬂu (ERT &)
IIE

A F 58 6 £ MBI FE] B 8
BRREEAREBMB RS
28| (18 5T &) (&)
BERMBHEEERE16RHE]
(%)

fER M A ()

TH AHR2019F4 1B ELEE MK
MARERNESHEAIELENAE - K

W)

position at 1 April 2019. Line items that were not affected

by the changes have not been included.

XEPXENEBAL EREER -

Carrying
amounts Carrying
previously amounts under
reported at HKFRS 16 at
31 March 2019 Adjustments 1 April 2019
REEBHE
KAl &R E165%
M201943A31R 20194818
ERMNEEE AR W ERE &
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT & FHET FET FHET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Right-of-use assets CREEE (i) = 3,276 3,276
Current asset B A E
Prepayments, deposits BRFE Ee Rk
and other receivables H b fE U 5K IE (ii) 2,640 (36) 2,604
Current liabilities mEAE
Lease liabilities HEAE (i) - (1,876) (1,876)
Non-current liability FERBEE
Lease liabilities HEEE (i) - (1,453) (1,453)
Capital and reserves BARR
Reserves G (ii) (53,453) 89 (53,364)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

2. Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

In relation to the leases of properties that the Group acts
as lessee, upon application of HKFRS 16, the right-of-use
assets in relation to the rented offices of HK$3,276,000, and
the corresponding current and non-current portion of lease
liabilities amounting to HK$1,876,000 and HK$1,453,000
respectively, are recognised.

An amount of prepayments on lease of HK$36,000 at 31
March 2019 was adjusted to retained profits upon initial
application of HKFRS 16 on 1 April 2019.

The impact of transition to HKFRS 16 on retained profits at
1 April 2019 represented the recognition of the differences
between right-of-use assets and lease liabilities amounting
to HK$53,000 and the adjustment on prepayments on lease
of HK$36,000 as disclosed in note (ii).

For the purpose of reporting cash flows from operating
activities under indirect method for the year ended 31 March
2020, movements have been computed based on opening
consolidated statement of financial position as at 1 April
2019 as disclosed above.

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts’

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions®

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business?

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Reform*

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?®

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material*

and HKAS 8

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021.

2 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions
for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of
the first annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

S Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to
be determined.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020.

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June
2020.

2.

mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
B £202063A31B IEFE

ERAMIEET B ®REER
&E%Eﬁﬁiﬁ%i@-ﬂu (ERT &)
IIE

B BB 14 R 4 B 3 AT B B
B A R B S B A s
# 8 (45 T &)
AEEWEIRAERTHIE BMHERW
REBNFET BB BERELENRE
BB EEA(BETA) :

BERUBImE RERA A
R FENTH

BRMBHRE HERBEEH
AR F 16557 HE@EE®
(& &7 )

ERUBHRE ABHMER?
LRI F I
RS

ERTBERE Bl = B AEPE 4
AR 2957
BB ER
FE395 &
BEEVBRS
AR E75E
({&5TA)

BREMBHRE REFEEBE

AR ZE105% &
BAGER
F28%%
({&ET4%)
BEAGTER

NAEHAE D
EZHEMEE
HE R AL

ERMEHER

15 &
BB st
I £ 85%
(&7 &)

L 720211 A18 3 2 & 48 8 & = 87
Faﬁft._g( ©

2 HRUWEEHH A2020F1 818 2%
Rt aEFEHrERARZERZ
BRI S PR B BE RS A K o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (continued)

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs,
a revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
was issued in 2018. Its consequential amendments, the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework
in HKFRS Standards, will be effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 “Definition of
Material”

The amendments provide refinements to the definition of
material by including additional guidance and explanations
in making materiality judgments. In particular, the
amendments:

. include the concept of “obscuring” material
information in which the effect is similar to omitting or
misstating the information;

. replace threshold for materiality influencing users
from “could influence” to “could reasonably be
expected to influence”; and

. include the use of the phrase “primary users” rather
than simply referring to “users” which was considered
too broad when deciding what information to disclose
in the financial statements.

The amendments also align the definition across all HKFRSs
and will be mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual
period beginning on 1 April 2020. The application of the
amendments is not expected to have significant impact on
the financial positions and performance but may affect the
presentation and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (continued)

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
2018 (the “New Framework”) and the Amendments
to References to the Conceptual Framework in
HKFRS Standards

The New Framework:
. reintroduces the terms stewardship and prudence;

. introduces a new asset definition that focuses on
rights and a new liability definition that is likely to be
broader than the definition it replaces, but does not
change the distinction between a liability and an equity
instrument;

. discusses historical cost and current value measures,
and provides additional guidance on how to select a
measurement basis for a particular asset or liability;

. states that the primary measure of financial
performance is profit or loss, and that only in
exceptional circumstances other comprehensive
income will be used and only for income or expenses
that arise from a change in the current value of an
asset or liability; and

. discusses uncertainty, derecognition, unit of
account, the reporting entity and combined financial
statements.

Consequential amendments have been made so that
references in certain HKFRSs have been updated to the New
Framework, whilst some HKFRSs are still referred to the
previous versions of the framework. These amendments are
effective for the Group’s annual periods beginning on or after
1 April 2020. Other than specific standards which still refer
to the previous versions of the framework, the Group will rely
on the New Framework on its effective date in determining
the accounting policies especially for transactions, events
or conditions that are not otherwise dealt with under the
accounting standards.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mRAEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

Significant Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (“Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) that are measured at
fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained
in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange of goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes
into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if
the market participants would take those characteristics
into account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in the consolidated financial
statements is determined on such basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 16 (since 1 April
2019) or HKAS 17 (before application of HKFRS 16), and
measurement that have some similarities to fair value but
are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
“Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of
Assets”.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to
be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition
the results of the valuation technique equals the transaction
price.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 and 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follow:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted price (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the

asset and liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee

if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiary to bring its accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

. the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

. the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

. the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”. In contrast, a
receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on input method,
which is to recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s
efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance
obligation relative to the total expected inputs to the
satisfaction of that performance obligation, that best depict
the Group’s performance in transferring control of goods or
services.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration (i.e.
variation orders), the Group estimates the amount of
consideration to which it will be entitled using either (a)
the expected value method or (b) the most likely amount,
depending on which method better predicts the amount of
consideration to which the Group will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included
in the transaction price only to the extent that it is highly
probable that such an inclusion will not result in a significant
revenue reversal in the future when the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates
the estimated transaction price (including updating
its assessment of whether an estimate of variable
consideration is constrained) to represent faithfully the
circumstances present at the end of the reporting period and
the changes in circumstances during the reporting period.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether the
nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide
the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a
principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be
provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment

in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less

Property, plant and equipment are stated

subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment over their estimated
useful lives using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an asset
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets
(continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit or group of cash-generating units to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of
the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit)
is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating
unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated
to that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets
(continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Leases

Definition of a lease (upon application of HKFRS 16
in accordance with transitions in note 2)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS
16 in accordance with transitions in note 2)

(i)  Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and
one or more additional lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-
alone price of the lease component.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mRAEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS
16 in accordance with transitions in note 2)
(continued)

(i)

(iii)

Short-term lease

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to a lease of office premise that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. Lease payment on short-term lease is
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

. any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

. an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group

in dismantling and removing the underlying
assets, restoring the site on which it is located
or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the
lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS
16 in accordance with transitions in note 2)
(continued)

(iii)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and
the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mRAEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS
16 in accordance with transitions in note 2)
(continued)

(v)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or
rate as at the commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the
option; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS
16 in accordance with transitions in note 2)
(continued)

(v) Lease liabilities (continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

. the lease term has changed or there is a change
in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

. the lease payments change due to changes
in market rental rates following a market rent
review, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

(vi) Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

. the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

. the consideration for the leases increases by

an amount commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase in scope and
any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mRAEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS
16 in accordance with transitions in note 2)
(continued)

(vi) Lease modifications (continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as
a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability, less any lease incentives receivables, based
on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount
rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities and lease incentives from lessor by making
corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-
use asset. When the modified contract contains a
lease component and one or more additional lease,
the Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract to each lease component on the basis of the

relative stand-alone price of the lease component.

The Group as a lessee (prior to 1 April 2019)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items that are measured in term of historical cost
in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the group entities
are translated into the presentation currency of the
Company (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of the reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve. Such exchange differences
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the
foreign operation is disposed of.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to government-managed retirement benefits
scheme and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered services entitling them to the
contributions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the
benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries and annual leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs not directly attributable to the
construction, acquisition or production of qualifying assets
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit (loss) before taxation
because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax
rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Taxation (continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 “Income Taxes” requirements to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences relating to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised
at initial recognition and over the lease terms due to
application of the initial recognition exemption. Temporary
differences arising from subsequent revision to the carrying
amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities,
resulting from remeasurement of lease liabilities and lease
modifications, that are not subject to initial recognition
exemption are recognised on the date of remeasurement or
modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income
taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially measured
in accordance with HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers”. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities
at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at
FVTPL are recognised directly in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL.
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mRAEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost

or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or

significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so
that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting
period following the determination that the asset is no

longer credit-impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(i)  Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated
as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL (representing payments
for life insurance policies) are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss and
included in the “other income, gains and losses” line
item.

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit losses (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including
trade receivables, pledged bank deposits, bank balances,
deposits and other receivables) and contract assets which
are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-months ECL (“12m ECL”)
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected
to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessments are done
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets. The ECL on these assets
are assessed individually.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mRAEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the

impairment allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The

assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is

based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable,
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

including historical experience and

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available)
or internal credit rating;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

. an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

(i)  Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

(i)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised cost
of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables, other receivables and contract assets
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through an impairment allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CREE E R

For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If
the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities, including trade and other payables and
bank borrowings, are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Critical Accounting Judgements and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgment in applying accounting
policies

The following is the critical judgment, apart from those
involving estimations, that the directors of the Company
have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that has the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

Critical Accounting Judgements and
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(continued)

Critical judgment in applying accounting
policies (continued)

Determination of incremental borrowing rates of
lease contracts

In determining incremental borrowing rates of lease
contracts, the Group applies judgement to determine the
applicable rates, taking into account the nature of the
underlying assets and the terms and condition of the leases
at both the commencement date and the effective date
of the modification to calculate the present value of lease
payments. The incremental borrowing rates of the Group
applied significantly affect the amounts of lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets recognised.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that may have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and
contract assets

The management of the Group estimates the lifetime ECL
of trade receivables and contract assets individually, after
considering financial background, creditability, ageing, and
likelihood of collection with reference to repayment history
and/or past due status of respective debtors. Estimated loss
rates are based on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the receivables and contract assets and are
adjusted for forward-looking information.

The impairment allowance for ECL is sensitive to changes
in estimates. The financial risk management objectives and
impairment assessment on the Group’s trade receivables
and contract assets is disclosed in note 33.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Critical Accounting Judgements and
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and
contract assets (continued)

As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amount of trade
receivables and contract assets are HK$14,930,000
(2019: HK$23,616,000) and HK$115,569,000 (2019:
HK$104,564,000), respectively (see notes 17 and 18 for
details), net of impairment allowance of HK$2,857,000
(2019: HK$2,803,000) and HK$1,322,000 (2019: HK$762,000),
respectively.

Recognition of revenue from construction
contracts

The Group recognises revenue from provision of construction
services by reference to the progresses toward complete
satisfaction of these services. Budgeted contract costs and
profit margin are prepared by the management of the Group
on the basis of quotations from time to time provided by the
major subcontractors, suppliers or vendors involved and the
experience of the management of the Group. In order to keep
the budget accurate and up-to-date, the management of the
Group conducts periodic reviews of the budgets of contracts
by comparing the budgeted amounts to the actual amounts
incurred. Such significant estimate may have impact on the
revenue recognised in each period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

Critical Accounting Judgements and
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Recognition of revenue from construction
contracts (continued)

Recognised amounts of contract revenue from provision of
construction services reflect management’s best estimate
of each contract’s outcome and value of works completed,
which are determined on the basis of a number of estimates.
This includes the assessment of the profitability of on-
going construction contracts. For more complex contracts
in particular, costs to complete and contract profitability
are subject to significant estimation uncertainty. The actual
outcomes in terms of total cost or revenue may be higher or
lower than estimated at the end of each reporting period,
which would affect the revenue and profit or loss recognised
in future years as an adjustment to the amounts recorded
to date.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group recognised
revenue from provision of construction services of
HK$229,809,000 (2019: HK$215,778,000).

Revenue and Segment Information

Revenue represents income received or receivable from
provision of construction services.

The Group’s operating activities are attributable to a single
operating segment focusing on provision of construction
services. This operating segment has been identified on
the basis of internal management reports prepared in
accordance with accounting policies conform with HKFRSs,
that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision
maker (“CODM”) (i.e. being executive directors of the
Company). The CODM regularly reviews revenue analysis by
relevant types of properties for which construction contract
work is provided, and considers them as one single operating
segment since all revenue of the Group is generated from
one single line of business. Other than revenue analysis, no
operating results and no other discrete financial information
are available for the assessment of performance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Revenue and Segment Information
(continued)

The CODM reviews the profit (loss) for the year of the Group
as a whole to make decisions about resource allocation.
No analysis of segment assets or segment liabilities is
presented as they are not regularly provided to the CODM.
The operation of the Group constitutes one single operating
segment under HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” and
accordingly, no separate segment information other than
entity level information is prepared.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers

An analysis of the Group’s revenue are as follows:
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All revenue during each of the reporting period is derived
from customers in Hong Kong. All the Group’s provision of
construction services are made directly with customers
which are mainly property developers (including subsidiaries
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private sector in Hong Kong.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

Revenue and Segment Information
(continued)

Revenue recognition

The Group provides design and project management services
for facade and installation of curtain wall systems. Such
contracts are entered into before the services begin. Under
the terms of the contracts, the Group is contractually
required to perform services at the customers’ specified
sites that the Group creates or enhances an asset that the
customers controls as the Group performs. Revenue from
provision of construction services is therefore recognised
over time using input method, i.e. based on the proportion
that costs incurred for work performed by the Group to
date relative to the estimated total costs in measuring
the progresses towards complete satisfaction of these
performance obligations for the revenue recognised during
each of the reporting period. The Group will consider if
there is any adjustment required to the input method for
uninstalled materials, to ensure that the input method
meets the objective of measuring progress towards
complete satisfaction of a performance obligation. The
management of Group considers that input method would
faithfully depict the Group’s performance towards complete
satisfaction of these performance obligation under HKFRS
15.

For contracts that contain variable consideration (i.e.
variation orders), the Group estimates the amount of
consideration to which it will be entitled using the expected
value method.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included
in the transaction price only to the extent that it is highly
probable that such an inclusion will not result in a significant
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised in
the future when the uncertainty associated with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group updates
the estimated transaction price (including updating
its assessment of whether an estimate of variable
consideration is constrained) to represent faithfully the
circumstances present at the end of the reporting period and
the change in circumstances during the reporting period.

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A

s & 2 #HE R (&)

Wy 2% 7 &R

AEEREMINE R RIAREERS
UEBERERLEK - ARAHNTINR
BHRBATRI Y - RIBEOKER A&
BAKONTPIEEMRBEITRG -
BEASRERAMAZE LR AT
BIMEE - At RERHERZERS
B e R AERER R FE R - BIAR
BAKRELZSBOMEEXRAEER
fBET KA PIFFEXE2MERF
BHEETHEE URSMEHARRE
Rl - AEERERBAEEEE
PR L EMBELHAE - LERE A
ANAETEMEBROEENEE
MER AEENEEERSBAZL
RERBEEVBREENFIGHRE
BERRAEB T2 RERERNE
ERRE -

EREREEMRMNIEINEH
CAEEFERBHREEEGITA

58
&
SHEEREDNKESHE -

AERENGFSREEATERLT
TEHARZER RAAXBER
BRARAGETEEHERBTAIZNR
BN HEERRESERE HRCHE
RORFRBESBEARED -

B R - AR E E k2B
HGET T e bE TR EIEEE
TEHBHOTE)  AEE RN R
EWRGEHERRRBEMORS
R ENB L -

il



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Revenue and Segment Information
(continued)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contract with
customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) as at 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019 and the
expected timing of recognising revenue are as follows:

mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
B £202063A31B IEFE

s &2 #HE R (&)

BRITEFENENER

/

20206 3A318 K20196F3AH31H H
RESRTROBEE(RETHID RE
17) X 5 (B DA B T 3R MKz ) TR AT B
LI

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FAT

Provision of construction services for: & RSB %
Residential properties FEMEHE 297,781 1,331
Commercial properties EEXZES 197,284 169,313
495,065 170,644

Based on the information available to the Group at the
end of each reporting period, the management of the
Group expects the transaction price allocated to the above
unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) contracts in respect of
provision of construction services as at 31 March 2020 will
be recognised as revenue during the year ending 31 March
2021 to 2023 (2019: the year ended 31 March 2020 to 2021).

ERAEERSHEARDRSHER
REEREREERHAMN202063H31H
HIRERERBOEZE Ll KRBT (3
BrRBTEANRSEBNEE
20214 £20234%3H318 1t & X (2019
FHE2020F £2021F 38318 EF
E) R B W= o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

5. Revenue and Segment Information
(continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of total
revenue of the Group during the year is as below:

s & 2 #HE R (&)

FREREFHNESR

o 15 4F 79 {7t B 38 7 4 48 M 2510%
MBI T

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Customer A ZEA 92,660 107,489
Customer B2 B FB? 56,932 N/A & F
Customer C? BFECS 50,558 37,870
Customer D? X FED? N/AFT & 4 45,761

4 Revenue derived from commercial properties contract works.

2 Revenue derived from residential properties contract works.

g Revenue derived from commercial properties and residential
properties contract works.

4 Revenue derived from this customer was less than 10% of
the total revenue for the year.

Geographical Information

The geographical location of the Group’s non-current assets,
excluding financial assets and deferred tax assets, is
substantially situated in Hong Kong.

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A
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6.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRME
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B E 20203 A31H L FE
Other Income, Gains and Losses 6. HMKA WERkEE
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Bank interest income ]RATH B WA 181 147
Exchange (loss) gain b5 (B8 W (55) 165
Fair value gain on payments for life AERBRENRD
insurance policies A ER = 337 1,635
463 1,947
Impairment Losses under Expected Credit 7. FEAHEEBEEX THREE
Loss Model, net of Reversal BB (HNREE)
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FHET
Impairment losses under ECL model, FUTSEBERNEHEE
net of reversal recognised on: EEEX T REESR
(FOBR A ME)
Contract assets EHEE 560 99
Trade receivables E 5 MW kI 54 1,693
Other receivables H b fE Y 5k 1B 8 2
622 1,794

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 33.

BB BT 1 O & 15 B MY ES3 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

8. Finance Costs 8. RMEMK
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET F& T
Interest on: R EFBEHFE :
Bank loans and bank overdrafts RITERRBRITES 5,459 5,203
Lease liabilities BEARE 98 -
5,557 5,203
9. Profit (Loss) Before Taxation 9. BRBEAIER (EE)
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$°000
TET FH& T
Profit (loss) before taxation has been & %t Al sa F (& 8) iR
arrived at after charging: HMBRAT&ERER:
Directors’ remuneration (note 10) Z =5 M (BT 5E10) 5,704 5,530
Other staff costs Hfh B T B A 32,122 28,329
Retirement benefits schemes BEME TEHD
contributions for other staffs R AE F 5T 84 K 1,558 2,219
Total staff costs BT A4 39,384 36,078
Auditor’s remuneration % SN B & 1,100 1,050
Depreciation of property, plant and ME- - BMERZHETE
equipment 534 490
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRHEESEITE 1,873 -
Operating lease rentals in respectof HEHEEAEVENKEHE
rented premises H&e N/ATiE A 2,471
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

10. Directors’, Chief Executive Officer’s and

Employees’ Emoluments

(a) Directors’ and chief executive officer’s

emoluments

Details of the emoluments paid or payable to the
directors and chief executive officer of the Company
during the year are as follows:

ARE IS R R M A
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B £202063A31B IEFE

10. EE - BE5
B &

(@) EEREK

TBRAEREES

SITHRAEME

REAR ENABEARAES
&HEL+/:IBZ/\,E\E}‘]@HiE$|E!§D

_|

Retirement
benefits
Salaries and Discretionary schemes
Fees allowances bonus contributions Total
EHREHN
we HeREW MEEL AR #ct
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
TR TR TR TER TER
For the year ended #ZE2020%3A31A
31 March 2020 LLEE
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Yu (chief executive officer) FEE(THAR) - 2,016 168 18 2,202
Mr. Chow BEE - 1,512 126 - 1,638
Mr. Wong Kam Man BEHRXEE - 1,200 100 18 1,318
Sub-total Nat - 4,728 394 36 5,158
Independent non-executive BUHHTEE
directors
Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah ERERT 195 - - - 195
Mr. Ng Ka Lok (note i) 200 A (I 3Ei) 128 - - - 128
Mr. Wong Chi Yung FEBEEAE 195 - - - 195
Mr. Man Yun Yee (note ii) B 5 5 A (B &) 28 - - - 28
Sub-total Nt 546 - - - 546
Total @ 546 4,728 394 36 5,704

Annual Report 2020 ==& — T F F 3}

127



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

10. Directors’, Chief Executive Officer’'s and 10. E5 - B THAEREE
Employees’ Emoluments (continued) < (&)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive officer’s (@) EERERSTHRAEMS
emoluments (continued) (#&)
Retirement
benefits
Salaries and  Discretionary schemes
Fees  allowances bonus contributions Total
RINE A
we HekEl s HE L HaS

HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$000
THT THT THT THEL THEL

For the year ended B Z2019%3A31A
31 March 2019 I:3::3
Executive directors HITEZE
Mr. Yu (chief executive officer)  REL(THER) - 1944 160 18 2,122
Mr. Chow &% & = 1,458 120 13 1,591
Mr. Wong Kam Man BERNEE = 1,155 95 18 1,268
Sub-total NE = 4,557 375 49 4,981
Independent non-executive BUEHTEE
directors
Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah EFERT 183 = = = 183
Mr. Ng Ka Lok RELEH 183 = = = 183
Mr. Wong Chi Yung FEBLLE 183 = = = 183
Sub-total et 549 = = = 549
Total @t 549 4,557 Bl 49 5,530
Notes: Bt 5 ¢
(i) Mr. Ng Ka Lok passed away on 25 November 2019. (i) RREEAER2019F11A25H
Brit o
(i) Mr. Man Yun Yee has been appointed as an (i) XOHE R % AEB2020862H128
independent non-executive director of the Company BEZFEAANRRBULIEAIT
with effect from 12 February 2020. =
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

10. Directors’, Chief Executive Officer’s and
Employees’ Emoluments (continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ and chief executive officer’s
emoluments (continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group. The emoluments of Mr. Yu were also for his
services in the capacity of chief executive officer.

The emoluments of independent non-executive
directors shown above were for their services as
directors of the Company.

The discretionary bonus is determined with reference
to the operating results, individual performance and
market condition during the year.

Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments
paid by the Group during the year, three of them
(2019: three) are directors of the Company whose
emoluments are included in the disclosures above. The

mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
B £202063A31B IEFE

10. EE - EETHRAEREES
< (48)

(a)

(b)

EXRRATEFTNOME SR
ERARNARAREEBHIE
HOREM MO - Rt
B B < 7 4% L 1R B (1T AR B PR
RENRBMATOME -

EXFRBIUIFATESTNME
RRBEFEEARBESAEH
MR MM E -

E’J BREATDNSEFANLLEE
CEARBETREE °

BEEME
RENFEBIARDHFALE
B ZRQ019F  ZR)ARAR

AMESE EME2E RN EXH
B Herm A (20195 mAE)A

emoluments of the remaining two individuals (2019: THM SR T
two) are as below:
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
F& T T
Employees EE&
- salaries and allowances — & & MEBRL 1,836 1,724
- discretionary bonus — BB IEAL 153 142
- retirement benefits schemes — R KTE B 5T 8 K
contributions 36 36
2,025 1,902
Annual Report 2020 =& = Z F F 3}
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

10. Directors’, Chief Executive Officer’'s and 10. E5 - B THAEREE
Employees’ Emoluments (continued) < (&)

(b) Employees’ emoluments (continued) (b) EEME (&)

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

WENMSENATEE :

Number of individuals
AE
2020 2019
2020 20194

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000 7T
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7t £1,500,00078 7T

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors
of the Company or the five highest paid individuals
(including directors and employees), as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office. None of the directors of the Company
have waived any emoluments for both years.

1 1
1 1

AEEHBEAARRNESHT
FEREHEAL(BREERESR)
SAERME - ERIMAIRN
AREEFREBREE -
BEARBNEENMFARE
EAME -

11. Taxation Credit "N. HEER
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$°000
THT FHET
The taxation credit comprises: HEEEBE:
Current tax Bl HR %4 18
Hong Kong Profits Tax EBNEB
— overprovision in prior years —BEFEBREREG
(note) (P 5E) (2,342) -
People’s Republic of China REARKEMERE
(the “PRC”) Enterprise Income Tax FTiS %% 12 14
(2,330) 14
Deferred taxation credit (note 26) i 3 4 TE 3K % (P 3£ 26) (147) (316)
(2,477) (302)

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Taxation Credit (continued)

Note: Polyfair Construction & Engineering Limited (“Polyfair HK”),
a subsidiary of the Group submitted a tax refund application
on 14 December 2017 in respect of the years of assessment
2014/15 and 2015/16. After the exchange of correspondences
between the Polyfair HK and the Inland Revenue Department
(the “IRD”), the IRD processed the application and the
tax refund notices in the amount of HK$1,008,000 and
HK$1,334,000 were issued on 23 July 2019 and 26 July 2019
accordingly.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime in Hong
Kong, the first HK$2,000,000 of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above
HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors of the Company considered the amount
involved upon implementation of the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime as insignificant to the consolidated financial
statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of
the estimated assessable profit for both years.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year ended 31
March 2020 has been made as all assessable profits of the
subsidiaries in Hong Kong are offset by tax losses brought
forward, and the subsidiaries in Hong Kong incurred tax
losses for the year ended 31 March 2019.

According to the Enterprise Income Tax Law (/2 A R 2
B 1 % AT 15 % )%) and the Implementation of the Enterprise
Income Tax Law of the PRC (1 % A R £ A1 B 1> 2 Fr 15 i 0%
B EIEH), an entity eligible as a Small Low-profit Enterprise
(NEUBIF 1 %) is subject to preferential tax treatments.
From 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2018, a Small Low-
profit Enterprise with annual taxable income not more than
Renminbi (“RMB”) 500,000 is subject to Enterprise Income
Tax calculated at 50% of its taxable income at a tax rate
of 20%; from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2021, a Small
Low-profit Enterprise with annual taxable income not more
than RMB1,000,000 is subject to Enterprise Income Tax
calculated at 25% of its taxable income at a tax rate of 20%.
During both years, a subsidiary of the Group is eligible as a
Small Low-profit Enterprise and is subject to the relevant
preferential tax treatments.

mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
B £202063A31B IEFE

1. BiEE % (&)

M AEEHBARERERIEAR
AR ([BBEHB]) N2017F12 8148
B 2014/15%.2015/165F & F £ 12
RFERD  EBEREBHEBELER
BRETER®E  HKREEH
& I 720199F 78238 K201947A
26H 2 Bl 3 H & 581,008,000 7T &
1,334,000 7 /9 3R Bt i@ 40 ©

REZEMEHNEHE  GEBSE
EERBE2EEATHNNSHRMRER
8.25% @ B #B2A & % 7T K )i A Al 17
16.5% BB o AT & M AR & A 15 5 X
BEROEBEERN G EBER165%
& — R -

ARREEZERR MAHNERXE
BESEN B EAMBEREIMS
Y FAEKN - WEFENFTRMNEHTS
g fh AT B SR B s A IR T R 16.6% 1 & -

AR E 2 2020F3A31H ILFE FEHK
BRFI R FT A FE AR a A 48 A s A B
HEEEE WU EREBFERE
IREHE - MEZ2019F3A31HIEFE
BEEWNBARAEEMIEEIE -

TRPEAREFBE S EMER AT
EAREMBESEMBREEEIESD
FENUBRFCEELSNERA ZE
HR AR - BR2017F181H £20184F
12H318 ' FEERTIKATEB A
R #500,0007T # /)N B 0 FI 1 25 78 Bt
H E R U A KI50% 18 B R20% 51 &
DEMEH  N2019F1 1B E 20214
128318 - FEERBWATEBR A
R #1,000,0007T 9 /)> 2 4k Fi 1> 2£ B 5t
H R U A B25% 18 B R20% T &
TEMER - PMEFE  AEB—
S EENCIESE =N R C =¥ =1
ZEHBEERTGFS -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

11. Taxation Credit (continued)

11.

The taxation credit for the year can be reconciled to the
profit (loss) before taxation per the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

BEK R (E)
FAMBIEEREITHEEGSER R4
2 AT R BR AT R A (B 18) ¥
BRONT

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$°000
THT FAT
Profit (loss) before taxation B 7 A ) (&5 18) 592 (6,883)
Tax charge (credit) at Hong Kong 2 E B NGB X16.5%
Profits Tax rate of 16.5% SFTEMHIBES K R) 98 (1,136)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible 7~ a] 1 %% 5 % MO i 75 2 £
for tax purposes 450 471
Tax effect of income not taxable BAERHBRANTIEZE
for tax purposes (57) (325)
Overprovision in prior years BEFEBBEMEG (2,342) -
Utilisation of tax losses previously &) F 5% B oK 7R 3R /O B TR B 18
not recognised (607) =
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised RERMBBEOR G E - 646
Effect of different tax rate of a R E fth B A B [ & E A
subsidiary operating in other iopEE NN RN b=
jurisdiction a8 (10) 12
Others H (9) 30
Taxation credit for the year FAREALR (2,477) (302)

At 31

March 2020, the Group had unused tax losses

of HK$2,779,000 (2019: HK$3,915,000) available for
offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of these losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax losses will

be carried forward indefinitely.

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A

720203 A31H A& B 7] K 85 &
) #9 7K B A B1 75 85 18 /52,779,000
7 7T (20194F © 3,915,000 7T) ° B R
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12.

13.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Dividends

No dividends were paid, declared or proposed by the
Company during the year ended 31 March 2020 nor since the
end of the reporting period (2019: nil).

Earnings (Loss) Per Share

The calculation of the basic earnings (loss) per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
B £202063A31B IEFE

12. RE

HE2020F3A3 1B IEFEEBREH
MAERUK  NRRABRBEE RN - TR
S R A A% B (20194 : &)

13. BRERN(FR)

ARBBEAANREERELRRN (B
B RBEATRIETE

2020 2019
2020 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FHT
Profit (loss) for the year attributable R EEREREN (EE)
to owners of the Company for the mEmRAEER ARG
purpose of basic earnings (loss) FRaEN(ER)
per share 3,069 (6,581)
2020 2019
2020 20194
Number of shares % 17 88
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ Bt EFRERRF (FEE)
shares for the purpose of basic = /& 8 B4 19
earnings (loss) per share 800,000,000 800,000,000

For the years ended 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019, no
diluted earnings (loss) per share were presented as there
were no potential ordinary shares in issue.

B £2020963H31H &201943H31H
HEE ARSECABEEDETE
B WA EZ2SFREFTEN (B
8/) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

14. Property, Plant and Equipment

14. Y% BMERRE

Furniture
Leasehold and office
improvements equipment Total
HE#E KARBAIRME #at
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T FETT THET
COST DN
At 1 April 2018 120185 4H1RH 828 997 1,825
Exchange adjustment ME 5, 38 B - (18) (18)
Additions =N - 308 308
At 31 March 2019 201943 H31H 828 1,287 2,115
Exchange adjustment b 5 & - (17) (17)
Additions NE - 62 62
At 31 March 2020 720203 A318 828 1,332 2,160
DEPRECIATION e
At 1 April 2018 M2018F4H18 89 167 256
Exchange adjustment bE 5, 38 & - 3) (3)
Provided for the year FERB 246 244 490
At 31 March 2019 201943 H31H 335 408 743
Exchange adjustment M 5, 38 B - 7) 7)
Provided for the year FEEE 269 265 534
At 31 March 2020 M202063H31H 604 666 1,270
CARRYING VALUES fRmEE
At 31 March 2020 7202053 H31H 224 666 890
At 31 March 2019 201943 A31H 493 879 1,372

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated over their estimated useful lives using the

straight-line method as follows:

Leasehold improvements

Furniture and office equipment

Over shorter of the

term of leases or
5 years
5 years

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A
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15. Right-of-Use Assets

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
B £202063A31B IEFE

15. FREEE

Offices
N
HK$'000
F& T
COST 34N
At 1 April 2019 (note 2) R2019F 4818 (Kt #E2) 3,276
Lease modification — rent concession HEBT-—HeBER (37)
At 31 March 2020 202093 A31H 3,239
DEPRECIATION heE
At 1 April 2019 R2019F4H1H -
Charge for the year FAZE (1,873)
At 31 March 2020 K 2020F3H31H (1,873)
CARRYING VALUE BEME
At 31 March 2020 202093 A31H 1,366
Expense relating to short-term lease with lease HEAANERERESUBRELE
terms end within 12 months from the date of Bl 251657 B Hi #E 51
initial application of HKFRS 16 1218 AR fE w72 B & A /Y
i X 481
Total cash outflow for leases HEMBE R B 2,443

REEFEERN AEEHRES THA
ERAREE MHEGHNR—ZE=ZFHK
EEFHIFIS - i E 20209638318 1
FE  AEEBBRAEZEMEARASEH
HE - HEBRRDIRE R EEERN -
BESETRGREGEH REEHE
RS RsE B 2 R B - R
CEERGHNCEERLEEALR
Fl 01T 2 BARR o

For both years, the Group leases certain offices for its
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term
of 1 to 3 years. During the year ended 31 March 2020, the
Group accounted for an office premise as short-term lease.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of
a contract and determines the period for which the contract
is enforceable.
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)

B R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

15.

16.

Right-of-Use Assets (Continued)
Restrictions or covenants on leases

Lease liabilities of HK$1,428,000 are recognised with related
right-of-use assets of HK$1,366,000 as at 31 March 2020.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other
than the security interests in the leased assets that are held
by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

Details of the lease maturity analysis of lease liabilities are
set out in note 24.

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit
or Loss

The amount represents two life insurance policies entered
into by Polyfair HK in September 2017 (the “Policies”) for two
directors of the Company, namely Mr. Chow and Mr. Yu, which
changes in fair value are recognised through profit or loss.

Under the Policies, the beneficiary and policy holder is
Polyfair HK and the total insured sum is United States
dollars (“US$”)1,000,000. Polyfair HK paid an upfront
payment of US$623,822 (equivalent to HK$4,881,000) and
US$471,857 (equivalent to HK$3,692,000). Polyfair HK can
terminate the policies at any time and receive cash back
based on the net nominal account value of the Policies at
the date of withdrawal, which is the gross premium paid,
plus accumulated interest income less any deductions and
the applicable surrender charges made in accordance with
the Policies. Polyfair HK receives an interest income at
variable rates, at which the insurer guaranteed a minimum
interest rates of 3.9% per annum for the 1st to the 5th policy
year and 2.25% per annum for the rest of the policy years.
Surrender charge is payable if the Policies are terminated
by Polyfair HK between the 1st and the 15th policy year in
accordance with the Policies. The management expected
that the Policies will be held upon the expected lives of the
two directors insured for a period of 20 years.

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A

16.

ERAEEE(E)
HERH A

MR2020F3A31E BCHRAEEERE
1,428,000 Tt R B 1F A # & E
1,366,000 7T ° F?Hﬂﬁ/\%ﬁﬂ’\ﬁﬂ%

ﬁ%ﬂfﬂﬂﬂ*%ﬁé $7I\ CHEBEIT
muEﬁHﬁﬁ i‘ﬂfﬁ??ﬁﬁﬁ
R ERIER -

EAHEaEMNHEERBHSTRM T
2435

BAFEFTAEBEGHNERMEE
ZARBREE B ENR2017F9A AR

AMEBEES(AIEEERKRELE)FIL
MmPASRRERRE(TRE]) - Q¥

EEHNERE=ER -
WF{%ﬁ X ARRERFBEARBE
BHRB - BRIREEA1,000,000E T °

ﬁ%é%.i,%afzﬁﬁﬁ KT8 623,8223% IC
(18 & 7 4,881,000/ 7t ) & 471,857 J©
(1% 743,692,000/8 7T) - BEE & A
BERFARIEIREE - WIR BRR B R IR A
HmEaEREFEKERERS  AEM
RE A MR F 2 WA RAE @R
BEBBEREXMNNEARRFESR
MBHECE BERFBUNNEF R
BF B A - f%fﬂ:i@ﬂﬁ%%%wi%&s
BAREFENZEFHNERRION H
BRREFEH225% HRERER
EREFIZEFEAREFEANLL -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

16. Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit

or Loss (Continued)

The fair values of the Company’s life insurance policies at
31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019 have been arrived at
on the basis of a valuation carried out on those dates by
Valtech Valuation Advisory Limited, an independent firm of
professional valuer not related to the Group whose address
is Unit 1, 19/F, Remington Centre, 23 Hung To Road, Kwun
Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong. Details of the valuation are set
out in note 33.

mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
B £202063A31B IEFE

16. BRAVEFTAESNESMEE

(%&)

RATIASREEIRE R 202063 A31
HX2019F3A31HM A FETIER A
EARSEEFAENE L EEMGEM
AR MAERAR (Kbt AE BN
IR S E B 23% A& RO 1E)
RZEBHETHEEET - GBS
1% B 7 BT 5E33 o

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHE T FB T
Payments for life insurance policies, ASRBERENK
at fair value i Q/NS LI 10,360 10,023
17. Contract Assets 17. EHNEE
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHE T FB T
Construction contracts BEAEN 116,891 105,326
Less: Impairment allowance for ECL o FEHEEBES
B B (1,322) (762)
115,569 104,564

As at 1 April 2018, the carrying amount of contract assets is
HK$106,054,000, net of impairment loss of HK$663,000.

The contract assets relate to the Group’s right to
consideration for work completed and not billed because the
rights are conditioned on the Group’s future performance.
The contract assets are transferred to trade receivables
when the rights become unconditional other than passage
of time.

R2018F4H1H » A EEMNEAEE
#106,054,00078 7T * &R E MBI E
/&5 18663,00078 7T °

RHEERAKENSTAM AL A
REMTREURKENENER
R TN BUR KA & B 8RR R
B o BREFIRAS BT (RREEBRIN
B ANEEBBEESIRKA -
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e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

17.

Contract Assets (Continued)

Included in carrying amount of contract assets is retention
money receivables of HK$25,241,000 (2019: HK$22,818,000)
as at 31 March 2020.

Retention money receivables are unsecured and interest-
free and represented the monies withheld by customers of
contract works fully recoverable within 1 to 2 years from the
date of the issuance of the practical completion certificate,
in accordance with the terms specified in the relevant
contracts. Upon satisfactory completion of contract work as
set out in the contract, the architect for the building project
will issue a practical completion certificate. Generally, upon
the issuance of the practical completion certificate, half of
the retention money of such contract work will be released
to the Group, while the remaining half will be released to
the Group upon the issuance of the certificate at the end of
defect liability period that identified defects in respect of
the entire building project have been made good.

The retention money receivables would be settled, based
on the expiry of the defect liability period, at the end of the
reporting period as follows:

17.

BHNEEA)

M2020%3A318 * A EEMEREE
155 B W AR B £ 25,241,0005% 7t (2019
£ : 22,818,000/ 7T) ©

FURRESLAEEMALR LS BRK
BHTIREPHMEBMNE  HAR
BERANMIENERNELER
RIZBZHHEF —EMFAZHNK
B - REXMAIIEOEHTIZERT
P& - 2 SRR B Y SEAD S B B IR
RIRE - KMz BHERERT
BER BHEAONIEN —FFRER
RERTASE  MEH—FHRR
HELETHERFHEHERMERZER
BFERNBRECEECENZEERE
MTAEHR -

RS R B S T A R B
5t B AR B 10 DA TR M 4%

2020 2019
20204 20194

HK$’000 HK$'000

FH& T FE T

Within one year —FR 20,312 15,229
After one year —F1& 4,929 7,589
25,241 22,818

Details of impairment assessment of contract assets are set
out in note 33.
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18. Trade Receivables

mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
B £202063A31B IEFE

18. EZEWRE

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FE T

Trade receivables from contracts BERAHESEWRIE
with customers 17,787 26,419
Less: Impairment allowance for ECL /% : REIHE BB B A RE & & (2,857) (2,803)
14,930 23,616

Trade receivables represent the amounts receivable, after
deduction of retention money, for construction services
which usually fall due within 14 to 30 days after the work
is certified, except for several credit worthy customers to
whom an extended credit period would be granted.

The aged analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date
is as follows:

EHRBRBRINRRESRNEK
BERBFE BERERIREER
ERIGEIORNEH  EETEER
HHNEPEEREEEMERI

BHREFERBEERARFHNER
e DTN :

2020 2019
20205 20194

HK$°000 HK$'000

F#& T F&E T

Within 30 days 30H A 13,652 19,578
31 to 90 days 31&90H 609 1,764
Over 90 days 90R KA k 669 2,274
14,930 23,616

As at 1 April 2018, the carrying amount of trade receivables
from contracts with customers is HK$16,738,000, net of
impairment loss of HK$1,110,000.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses
the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit
limits by customers. Recoverability of the trade receivables
is reviewed by the management of the Group regularly.

R2018F4R1H  REF AN E ZE W
HRIEHBRTEE 416,738,000/ 7T * B
B HBR R E E5181,110,000/8 7T ©

REXETFAHEFZH  AEEEF
BMEBERPMEEERIRETFH
FEERE AEEEEES TR
B 5 UK IR e Al g = 1 o
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N EYT
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE
18. Trade Receivables (Continued) 18. EZEIWKIE(E)
As at 31 March 2020, the management of the Group M202063HA31H A& BEERE R
closely monitors the credit quality of trade receivables and VNERBIBBRAKENEEEERZ K
the balance of past due 90 days or more of HK$669,000 ERAHEBANBEEREKERK
(2019: HK$2,274,000) is not considered as in default based RS EMIFEFFEE - @E90H
on historical settlement pattern for those debtors and 3¢ LA _E B 45 £2669,0007%8 JT (20194F ¢
continued business with the Group. 2,274,000 L) TR BEER °
Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are EHREZREWRFEREFTHNFBH
set out in note 33. A BT 5E33 o
19. Prepayments, Deposits and Other 19. AR E RERHMENR
Receivables MIE
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Prepayments SN 4,328 2,331
Rental and other deposits HekEfMize 565 102
Other receivables H b JE W IB 249 207
Current portion B ER &6 5,142 2,640
Rental and other deposits HekHMZES - 472
Non-current portion JE BN B =8 5 - 472
5,142 3,112

Details of impairment assessment of deposits and other
receivables are disclosed in note 33.

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A
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20. Pledged Bank Deposits/Bank Balances and

21.

Cash

Pledged bank deposits of HK$32,313,000 (2019:
HK$32,141,000) carry interests which range from 0.01% to
1.9% (2019: 0.05% to 1.3%) per annum as at 31 March 2020.

As at 31 March 2020, the pledged bank deposits of
HK$32,313,000 (2019: HK$32,141,000) have been pledged to
secure bank loans of HK$85,454,000 (2019: HK$84,761,000)
and bank overdrafts of HK$7,914,000 (2019: HK$7,835,000)
as disclosed in notes 25 and 29. In addition, included in
the carrying amount as at 31 March 2020 is HK$25,224,000
(2019: HK$25,108,000) which is also pledged to secure surety
bonds of an aggregate balance of HK$15,078,000 (2019:
HK$10,245,000) given by a bank as disclosed in notes 29 and
34.

Bank balances carry interest at prevailing market rate of
0.01% (2019: 0.01%) per annum as at 31 March 2020.

Transfer of Financial Assets

The followings were the Group’s financial assets as at 31
March 2020 that were transferred to banks by factoring
relevant trade receivables of HK$10,060,000 (2019:
HK$22,694,000) on full recourse basis. As the Group has
not transferred the significant risks and rewards relating
to these receivables, it continues to recognise full carrying
amount of the financial assets and has recognised the cash
received on the transfer and included as secured bank loans
as set out in note 25. These financial assets are carried at
amortised cost in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
B £202063A31B IEFE

20 CERBITER RITER

21.

kB &

7202093 A31H © B & # IR 1717 &K
32,313,000 70 (20194F : 32,141,000
IR EFZE0.01%E1.9% (20194 :
0.05%%£1.3%) 5T & °

M 2020438318 + 32,313,000 T
(20194 : 32,141,0007% 7T ) BY & & # 8§
THEREE R - {E/R85,454,0007% 7T
(20194F : 84,761,000 7T) R 17 & &
57,914,000% 7T (20194 : 7,835,000
ETT) RITHE X B HE R (A M 3£ 25% 29
FT# B&) o 1t 4N+ 720203 A31H /9
BR TE 1B 1 #925,224,0007 7T (20194 :
25,108,000% L) INE B - E & H
— A R 17 3% fif 48 45 £215,078,0007% 7T
(20194F : 10,245,000/ 7T) K =M HER
B PE (R (A0 B RE 29 34T W EE) »

202038318 @ SR1T & 821 IR 17
T35 & A #0.01% (20194F : 0.01%) &f
g\ o

HESREE

AT A2 B R 202043 318 & 1%
PHEREERERNEESEKZKE
10,060,000 7t (20194 : 22,694,000
BL)MEBETFRITNECHEE - AR
AEEVEBZERRRENHEES
AEBEOFREE HEBEISH
BEMZTEEE YEERBEM
WEHHRSBRITBIERERKIFERT
BERAN (M F2BE) - 2S5 mE
EEGE MR R K AR KA
/EE °
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RAMBREME
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE
21. Transfer of Financial Assets (Continued) 2. BESHMEE (&)
Customers’ invoices transferred
to banks with full recourse
HEFRITHNEFPEER
(ffE2EERRE)
2020 2019
2020 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FAET
Carrying amount of transferred assets € & & EMNKREE 10,060 22,694
Carrying amount of associated M B ERN
liabilities REE (10,060) (22,694)
Net position F R - -
22. Contract Liabilities 22. ENEE
As at 1 April 2018, the carrying amount of contract liabilities R2018F4R1H - A BEMEmE
is HK$627,000. #627,0008 JT °
The following table shows how much of the revenue TRBRNEEEESYABAERBH KN
recognised in the current year relates to carried forward FEEBRRAKZSE ARt EE
contract liabilities, being the receipts in advance from a RIGFEM —ZEPH A o

customer in relation to the construction service rendered.

Provision of construction services

RAtEERK
2020 2019
20204 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHET

Revenue recognised that was included FtAFEH A X A E L& B
in the contract liabilities balance [

at the beginning of the year - 627
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ARE IS R R M A
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B £202063A31B IEFE

23. Trade and Other Payables 23. ESZRHMEMNRKE

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$’000 HK$'000

THERT FHET

Trade payables B SN RIA 17,114 21,576
Retention payables — amount payable ERREE—ZER —FR

within one year Xt H) & 5 5,379 4,537
Retention payables — amount payable ERBE —HAR —F&

after one year SRR 718 1,127

Accrued charges Bt & 5,084 5,149

Other payables H b & 1 5K IE 40 36

28,335 32,425

The credit period of trade payables is 30 to 60 days. Z SN RIBEREEH A30E608 °

MTARBERR BEHERNREE
REBEZHHHRE D

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables based on
the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET TH& T
Within 30 days 30HA 13,897 16,341
31 to 60 days 31260H 2,209 4,695
671 to 90 days 61£90H 825 60
Over 90 days 90H A E 183 480
17,114 21,576
24. Lease Liabilities 24, HEESE

2020
20204
HK$’000
FET

Lease liabilities payable: ENHEEAE:
Within one year shown under current liabilites —FRIPIL NN RSB EE 1,428
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mRAEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

25. Bank Borrowings

25. SRITHEMK

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FAET
Bank loans RITER 88,354 89,528
Bank overdrafts RITHEX 7,914 7,835
96,268 97,363
The carrying amounts of the above LA FEREREEARUT
borrowings are repayable*: B E B
— On demand or within one year -RERF—FA 94,568 94,463
- Within a period of more than one -—FMNE
year but not exceeding two years BRERN 1,200 1,200
- Within a period of more than two - RE L
years but not exceeding five years BERER 500 1,700
96,268 97,363
* The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates 2 HHeEIOREE & ATE T
set out in the loan agreements. SR BEHTHE -
2020 2019
2020 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FAT
Comprising: B
Amount due within one year —E N E B 5 A
shown under current liabilities RBAEARBRSKREN
and containing a repayment on EE G KA KA
demand clause 94,568 94,463
Amount that are not repayable within AR B RS ARER
one year from the end of the —FAEEERE
reporting period but containing a REREERBERD
repayment on demand clause FKIE 1,700 2,900
96,268 97,363

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A
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As at 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019, the HIBOR and
Prime Rate are quoted by the lending banks.

mEMBERKRHE
For the year ended 31 March 2020
H E20206F3A31HIEFE
25. Bank Borrowings (Continued) 25. $RITIE (&)
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Variable-rate bank loans comprise: FERITEREE:
Secured bank loans (note (a)) B K R 17 & K (&£ (a)
HK$ bank loans at bank’s lending prime 1% R 17 & 18 22 & Z Fl| X
rate (“Prime Rate”) less 0.50% to ([ EBEFE])RE0.50%
2.75% (2019: Prime Rate less £275% (20194 : B HE
2.00% to 2.75%) per annum I Z I 2.00% E2.75%) H)
FEMEFTERAB T
RITE 8,321 20,962
HK$ bank loans at Hong Kong EEBRTEZEFEM
Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) 2.50% £3.25% (20194 :
plus 2.50% to 3.25% (2019: HIBOR ABRITRZERFSM
plus 2.50% to 3.25%) per annum 2.50% %£3.25%) Y F F| &
FTERABTIRITER 77,133 63,799
85,454 84,761
Unsecured bank loan (note (b)) 2 3K 17 68 17 & K (Ff =E (b))
HK$ bank loan at HIBOR plus 3.25% EEABRITEZEFREM
(2019: HIBOR plus 3.25%) per annum 3.25% (20194 : HAERIT
B 2 7 5. 113.25%) H) F F
K BB TRITER 2,900 4,767
88,354 89,528
Secured bank overdrafts (note (a)) B I 4R 17 & X (M & (a))
HK$ bank overdrafts at Prime Rate & E B ER0.50%E
less 0.50% to 1.15% (2019: Prime 1.15% (20194 : & =& I
Rate less 1.15% to 1.80%) R1.15% £1.80%) K F
per annum FMEGFERBTRITEX 7,914 7,835
96,268 97,363

RIRITRAE o

202093 831H &2019438318 -
EARTAEZEREAKEBRNEXRE
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e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

25. Bank Borrowings (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

As at 31 March 2020, the secured bank loans of
HK$85,454,000 (2019: HK$84,761,000) and bank overdrafts
of HK$7,914,000 (2019: HK$7,835,000) are secured by
the pledged bank deposits of HK$32,313,000 (2019:
HK$32,141,000), trade receivables of HK$10,060,000 (2019:
HK$22,694,000), financial assets at FVTPL of HK$10,360,000
(2019: HK$10,023,000) as disclosed in note 29 and
guaranteed by a corporate guarantee of the Company.

In addition to the pledge of assets and guarantee disclosed
above, included in the secured bank loans are (1) factoring
loan of HK$13,898,000 (2019: HK$14,666,000) which is also
secured by the contract assets of HK$13,898,000 (2019:
HK$14,666,000) (note 17) on a full recourse basis, and (2)
bank loans of HK$51,234,000 (2019: HK$56,982,000) which
are also secured by properties held by a director of the
Company and companies controlled by a director of the

Company or his close family members (note 35).

The secured bank loans carry effective interest rates ranging
from 2.25% to 4.82% (2019: 3.38% to 4.78%) per annum.

The bank overdrafts carry effective interest rate ranging from
4.10% to 4.75% (2019: 3.568% to 4.23%) per annum.

The unsecured bank loan is guaranteed by the Government
of The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region under Small
and Medium Enterprises (“SME”) Loan Guarantee Scheme
or/and The Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation Limited under
SME Financing Guarantee Scheme. The unsecured bank loan
carries effective interest rate at 4.82% (2019: 4.78%) per
annum.

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A

25. SRATE (&)

B 2

(a)

M20204F3A31H - EEFIRITE X
85,454,0007% 7T (20194F : 84,761,000
J0) & $B 17 & $7,914,0007% 7T (2019
£ :7,835000/ L) A B HRTE
##32,313,0005% 7T (20194 : 32,141,000
7 7T) © B 5 e Wk 5% 7810,060,0007 7T
(20194F : 22,694,000 7T) & 3% A F1E
A 5 B & B & 10,360,000/ 7T
(20194F : 10,023,000 7T X 2R F 55 295
W) (EIR AR ARNR R A RERE
BR-

BREXFIBEBENEEZE RRE
RN BERBITERREN
1 B & 313,898,000/ 7T (2019
£ 114,666,000 L) I8 A A& &
& FE13,898,0008 JT (20194 :
14,666,0007% Jo)(Mt F17) 1E &
R z2EEREE)  RQR
17 B 351,234,000/ 7T (20194 :
56,982,000 JT) * IRA AR R A — %
EEPHARR —RZRESHEFBE
il 8 2 B B ) ZEVE AR (B EE35) o

EEBRTESTNDERFENENF
2.25% Z4.82% (20194 : 3.38% &
4.78%) °

BOETNEBRFFNENTL10%E
4.75% (20194 : 3.58% £4.23%) °

EEFRTERBBEBHNITHRE
BB ERNEETRNREDE
ERBES REBRIBESFE
RARBEP/NEEREERTE
BR BEBRTERNERFER
R E4.82% (20195 : 4.78%) ©



26. Deferred Tax Assets

The followings are the major deferred tax assets recognised

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
B £202063A31B IEFE

26. ELEBRIEEE
AREERBAFEEHERANETEET

and movements thereon during the current and prior years: HEEERHEEHMT
Impairment Accelerated
allowance accounting
for ECL  depreciation Total
EHEE
& 8 R E
BiE MEESINE # ot
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THT FHT FHT
At 1 April 2018 R2018F 4 H1H 293 = 293
Credit in profit or loss (note 11) T AE &=
(Bt 3E11) 296 20 316
At 31 March 2019 R2019F3H31H 589 20 609
Credit in profit or loss (note 11) stAE =
(Bt 5E11) 103 A 147
At 31 March 2020 720204 3831H 692 64 756
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e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

27. Share Capital 27. R
Number of
shares Amount
g Q| ]
’000 HK$’000
TR THER
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each & AR M E0.0175 T /9 I 38 A
Authorised: VETE
At 1 April 2018, M20185F4H18 -
31 March 2019 and 20194 3H318 &
31 March 2020 20203 H31H 5,000,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid: EETREE:
At 1 April 2018, RK2018F4H18
31 March 2019 and 20194 3H318 &
31 March 2020 20203 H31H 800,000 8,000
28. Operating Lease Commitments 28. REMEAE

At 31 March 2019, the Group had commitments for future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating

leases which fell due as follows:

The Group as lessee

R2019F3A31H  REBEEARAT
FHAHOT I REECEREEETH

RNIR KGRI AR :

REBEREEA

2019
20194
HK$'000
FHET

Within one year
In the second to third year inclusive

—FNR

ME=F(BHEEREMF)

Operating lease payments represented rentals payable by
the Group for its office premises. Leases were negotiated for
terms ranging from one to three years and the rentals were

pre-determined and fixed.

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A

2,455
1,565

4,020
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mEMBERKRHE
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B £202063A31B IEFE
29. Pledge of Assets 2. EEEH
As at 31 March 2020, certain assets of the Group were M2020563A31H  "&E BB T EE
pledged to secure an aggregate amount of bank loans of EE - {ER 4 & 85,454,000/ JT
HK$85,454,000 (2019: HK$84,761,000) and bank overdrafts (20194F : 84,761,000 7T) RITE Z K&
of HK$7,914,000 (2019: HK$7,835,000) as disclosed 7,914,000 7T (20194 : 7,835,000/%8
in note 25 and surety bonds of HK$15,078,000 (2019: JL) 88 17 38 S (40 MY 3E25F7 #2 58) A &
HK$10,245,000) as disclosed in note 34. The carrying values 15,078,000/ 7T (20194F : 10,245,000
of these assets at the end of the reporting period are as BIT) SEER (M 4RI ER) B &
follows: R ZFEERHESHARNEREELD
T
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Pledged bank deposits (note (a), () BERERITEK(HFER) - () 32,313 32,141
Trade receivables (note (a), (c)) 2 5 WA (M E@)  ©) 10,060 22,694
Contract assets (note (b), (c)) E R & E (M sEb) * () 13,898 14,666
Financial assets at FVTPL ERAFEFABERD

(note 16) T R & E (Kt 5£16) 10,360 10,023
66,631 79,524

Notes: P & -
(a) As at 31 March 2020, the pledged bank deposits of (a) M20209F3HA31H © 32,313,000/ 7T

HK$32,313,000 (2019: HK$32,141,000) (note 20) and trade
receivables of HK$10,060,000 (2019: HK$22,694,000) (note
18) are pledged to secure the bank loans and bank overdrafts
of HK$85,454,000 (2019: HK$84,761,000) and HK$7,914,000
(2019: HK$7,835,000) respectively.

(20194 : 32,141,000/ L) W E &
4R 17 17 3K (M 7 20) 10,060,000
7 7T (20194F : 22,694,000 JT) ) &
SREWHEBE(MHFIDEER 1A
85,454,000 7T (20194 : 84,761,000
& r) R 17 B 3 K&7,914,000% 7T
(20194F : 7,835,000/ 7T) R1THE K
R o
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e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

29. Pledge of Assets (Continued)

(b) In addition to the pledge of assets disclosed in note (a),
factoring loan of HK$13,898,000 (2019: HK$14,666,000)
(included in the secured bank loans) is also secured by the
contract assets of HK$13,898,000 (2019: HK$14,666,000) on

a full recourse basis.

(c) The pledged bank deposits of HK$25,224,000 (2019:
HK$25,108,000), trade receivables of HK$8,760,000 (2019:
HK$10,410,000) and contract assets of HK$5,873,000 (2019:
HK$3,951,000) were also pledged to secure the performance
guarantees granted under letters of guarantees of the
Group of an aggregate balance of HK$15,078,000 (2019:
HK$10,245,000) as disclosed in note 34.

30. Retirement Benefits Schemes

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under
the control of independent trustees. The Group contributes
5% of relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme, which
contribution is matched by employees but subject to a
maximum amount of HK$1,500 per month for each employee
to the MPF Scheme.

The employees employed by the PRC subsidiary are
members of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme
operated by the PRC government. The PRC subsidiary is
required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll
to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits.
The only obligations of the PRC subsidiary with respect to
the retirement benefits scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of HK$1,594,000
(2019: HK$2,268,000) represents contributions paid or
payable to the above schemes by the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2020.

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A

29.

30.

EEER(E)

(b) BRHIGEQ) FTHEE M A E D
% 32 & 313,898,000/ JT (20194 :
14,666,000 7T) (5T A B & #H R 17
B ) I A A 4 & E13,898,000/% 7T
(20194F : 14,666,000/8 JT) 1E & ##
(REEBRERE)-

(©) 25,224,000 T (20194 :
25,108,000/ 7t) Ky B & # R 17
£ X 8,760,000/ JT(20194 :
10,410,0007 7o) &) & 5 & W 5K T8 K&
5,873,000 7T (20194F : 3,951,000
BILNEHNEENEE R F
ARBASEERRIE LN A
4 # /515,078,0007 7T (20194 :
10,245,0007% 70) &) B 49 & (R 9 £ R
(LN B 5E34FTH ) o

iR ¢k 48 7 5 2

AEBAMACERNEERES A
BESHE c BRESHEMNEEARN
EEMEESRARE YABIYRTE
ANESTEE AEEEEBEAZH
b cl = g NI L e 1K (=
EHF - EEAREREERAEAES
STEIMER 8 &= 5K 1,500 7T ©

TEMMEARMEFENEERTER
FiT 48 & B0 B 3K 2R AR UK AR N A 81 B9 AR
B -mEMNBARAREIANK —
BoLRRAKEMNGEERHER B
BHENES - PRENBARAREE
KEMFEE-—BEERREAM
SELRERHK -

B 18 % 0 Bk 7 48 5K 751,594,000% 7T
(20194 : 2,268,000/ 70) & A &£ B &
F2020F3A3ALEFEA LR
GEY R R N



31.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Share Option Scheme

In order to provide incentives or rewards to participants
of the share option scheme including the directors of
the Company and eligible employees of the Group, the
shareholders of the Company passed an ordinary resolution
at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 25
January 2018 to approve the adoption of a share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”). No share options were
granted under the Share Option Scheme since its adoption
on 25 January 2018.

The major terms of the Share Option Scheme are
summarised as follows:

(a) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
an incentive or a reward to participants for their
contribution to the Group.

(b) Eligibility

Eligible participants include employees (whether full
time or part time employees, including non-executive
directors) and such other eligible participants.

(¢) Maximum number of shares

(i) Maximum number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Group must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of
the total number of shares in issue from time to
time.

(i) Total number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Group shall not exceed 80,000,000 shares,
being 10% of the total number of shares in
issue as at the listing date, 23 February 2018,
unless the Group obtains the approval of the
shareholders of the Company in general meeting
for renewing the scheme mandate limit under the
Share Option Scheme.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

31. Share Option Scheme (Continued)
(d) Period of the Share Option Scheme

(e)

Subject to any prior termination by the Company in a
general meeting or by the board of directors, the Share
Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period
of 10 years commencing on the date of adoption of the
Share Option Scheme.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

No share option shall be granted to any participant if
any further grant of options would result in the shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the share
options granted and to be granted to such person
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in
any 12-month period up to and including such further
grant exceeding 1% of the total number of shares in
issue, unless:

(1) such further grant has been duly approved, in the
manner prescribed by the relevant provisions of
Chapter 23 of the Listing Rules, by resolution of
the shareholders in general meeting at which the
participant and his associates shall abstain from
voting;

(2) a circular regarding the further grant has been
despatched to the shareholders in a manner
complying with, and containing the information
specified in, the relevant provisions of Chapter
23 of the Listing Rules (including the identity
of the participant, the number and terms of
the share options to be granted and options
previously granted to such participant); and

(8)  the number and terms (including the subscription
price) of such share option are fixed before the
general meeting of the Company at which the
same are approved.
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31.

32.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(f)

(g)

(h)

Payment on acceptance of the share
option

HK$1 is payable by the grantee to the Company on
acceptance of the share option offer. The share option
offer will be offered for acceptance for a period of 21
days from the date on which the offer is granted.

Subscription price for shares

The subscription price of a share in respect of any
particular option granted under the Share Option
Scheme shall be a price determined by the board of
directors at least the higher of:

(i)  the closing price of the shares;

(i)  the average closing price of the shares for the
five consecutive business days immediately
preceding the offer date; and

(iii)  the nominal value of a share on the offer date.

The remaining life of the Share Option
Scheme

Approximately 7 years and 10 months (expiring on 24
January 2028).

Capital Risk Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the group
entities will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s

overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt,
which includes the bank borrowings disclosed in respective
notes, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital and reserves.

31.

32.
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or the redemption of existing debts.

33. Financial Instruments

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020

B £ 2020F3A3BIEFE

32. Capital Risk Management (Continued) 32. EXRMEE(E)
The management of the Group reviews the capital structure AEBERET AR ERERE o (£
regularly. As part of this review, the management considers RN —&n  BEESEEREAERN
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class RARESEERNB@ANERE - ILE
of capital, and will balance its overall capital structure MEBETHRG  BTHMEBHKERER
through new share issues as well as the issue of new debts BER UFTEHEREERERE -

33. e T H

Categories of financial instruments TR ITENER
2020 2019
2020 20194
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FHET
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at BRAFEGFABERD
FVTPL TREE 10,360 10,023
Financial assets at amortised cost REHEK AT ENEREE 56,156 71,329
66,516 81,352
Financial liabilities cREE
Amortised cost B35 R AR 119,519 124,639
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods RS EeREERSRABGEMEK
adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of AEZ@FTHER T E(BERRE
measurement and the basis on which income and expenses £ FEREEUARKAR A HER
are recognised, in respect of each class of financial assets ER)MFBERWFE3RE -

and financial liabilities are disclosed in note 3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

33. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial
assets at FVTPL, trade receivables, deposits, other
receivables, pledged bank deposits, bank balances and
cash, trade and other payables, bank borrowings and
lease liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments include market risks (foreign
currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk, and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that movement
in foreign currency exchange rate will affect the Group’s
financial results and its cash flows. The Group has financial
assets at FVTPL of HK$10,360,000 (2019: HK$10,023,000)
which are denominated in US$, but the management
considers exposure on the balances dominated in US$ in
the group entity with HK$ as functional currency is not
considered significant as HK$ is pegged to US$ under
the pegged exchange system in Hong Kong. The Group
also has certain transactions denominated in RMB, but
management considers such exposure is not significant
to the consolidated financial statements and hence no
sensitivity analysis is presented. The Group currently does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arises.

33.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mRAEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020

HE2020F3A318ILEE

33. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate pledged bank deposits and lease
liabilities. The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to interest bearing bank balances,
pledged bank deposits and bank borrowings at variable
interest rates. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of interest rates on
Prime Rate and HIBOR arising from its bank borrowings. The
Group currently does not have a policy on fair value and cash
flow hedges of interest rate risk. However, the management
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate risk should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for interest bearing bank
borrowings and bank balances at variable interest rates at
the end of the reporting period and assumed that these
balances outstanding at the end of each reporting period
were outstanding for the whole year.

Except for bank balances using 50 basis points (2019: 50
basis points), if interest rates had been 100 basis points
(2019: 100 basis points) higher and all other variables were
held constant, the potential effect on post-tax profit (2019:
post-tax loss) for the year is as follows:

33. M T A(&A)

TREREEREREEGE)

5 45 L B (4)
S

AEEEHAEBEELCEMRRITER
FHEREMNAFEMNEXRAR - A&
ERESBERAFB R ERFBHEFE
RITHES  CERRITERLRITE
FORSRENXER - AREWR
EREMNERBREBZSETRERTE
FHEBREMNERERBBRITRAEZRE
B RO B o AN SR B A I S S R K
RERAAFERREESREH PRE -
A EEREEEMNXER ¥R
ERERZEHHRERFEER -

BREE DM

ATHBEEIMIDERBRERRZED
MR B|RITERMBITHE RN X
RBREE YERENEREHREK
XN ZEERRBEFE R R -

B R 17 45 88 (2 A0 ME & B (20194 :
5O1E £ &) Hb -+ fie A = 3£ 010018 &
25 (20194 - 1001E £ &) M P A Al
BRZREF TR HERNRTZER
Q019F BB EBR)NEEZEN
T

2020 2019
202045 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHET
Decrease in post-tax profit F AR % B TR
(2019: increase in post-tax loss) (20194 : BrBi1& B 18
for the year 2 1n) 764 605
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

33. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event

of the counterparties failure to perform their obligations
as at 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019 in relation to each
class of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount
of these assets as stated in the consolidated statement of

financial position.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

Internal credit

mEMBHRRHE
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33. M T A(&A)

TR EREEREREEGE)

EERMEBETM

AEERER S FR2020F3A318 &
2019F3A3THAREBITEBR S D
BRLREENECHMAENRS

B e

CRBREFEENEE BB

MERAFRIIMEREE -

AEBNABEERRIRFHEERE

AT # R

Trade receivables/

Other financial

rating Description contract assets assets
ESRNARE
REEEFR  MI BREE HtteMEE
Strong The counter-party is either listed company or Lifetime ECL - 12m ECL
subsidiary under listed parent holding company not credit-impaired
with strong financial background based on
published financial information publicly available
in the market, creditability and with debt balance
past due within 0-1 year, and is aged within its
historical settlement pattern. The debtor has very
low probability of default.
o) RHZGUFAGR-—FEETRAGRRBR —M LT 2HEHEEEFERE 12EAEH
BERERROMBLR  REMEAMERNEYE —-YELREEHRE FEBA
BRRGEE BBEREE BRAKRBRTE -
FA-RETEBEAERN - BHAROTRMN
FEE -
Good The counter-party is a private company with debt Lifetime ECL - 12m ECL
balance past due within 0-1 year, and is aged within  not credit-impaired
its historical settlement pattern. The debtor has low
probability of default.
R #f RHOUFR-—BILARA EHAEBRBHTE- 2HEHCEEFRE 12BAEH
FARETAAEAERA - BBAROIRE —-YUBLREERE FEER

&
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

33. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and
(Continued)

impairment assessment

Internal credit

33. #@IT A

(&)

TR EREEBSERBR(E)

1= & & B & 0 (8 57 14 ()

Trade receivables/

Other financial

rating Description contract assets assets
EREWRE

REEEFR  MI BHREE HitEMEE

Satisfactory The counter-party is a either listed company or Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL —

subsidiary under listed parent holding company
with strong financial background based on
published financial information publicly available in
the market, creditability and with debt balance past
due within 1-2 years. The debtor frequently repays
after due dates and the balance often aged beyond
its historical settlement pattern. The probability of
default is moderate.
RHGUFAGR-—FEETRAIKRRBR —F L
EREQFRNMBAR REMSAMBEROME
BHRLGEE BBEREE BHA %ﬁ% B
FA-BHEALERIBMARER  BRERLET
BABEAEREN - BOWRME ﬂo

Watch list The counter-party is a private company with debt
balance past due within 1-2 years. The debtor
frequently repays after due dates and the balance
often aged beyond its historical settlement pattern.
The probability of defautt is concern.
x%ﬂim—ﬁ%A CERERASE-EMF
N BBARE U%E&%ﬁ B RER LT
BREAEEES - @%T“HQA@EO

HMItE

Loss The counter-party has debt balance past due for
more than 2 years and there is evidence indicating
the debtor is credit-impaired. The probability of
default is high.

RHGHFOEBERBAMFNL - T H B

EHACHBREERE - BORRMES -

BB EIRBT

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the counter-party
is in severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery.

W 85 EEBETRIUFERBEENR -
%W@MEE’]T °

AREYEE
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EBRE-CHREEH
&

Amount is written
off

LREMH
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-~V ERREERE
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-~V ERREERE
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BRE-CHREEH
&

Amount is written
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

33. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. The Group reviews the recoverable
amount of trade receivables and contract assets at the end
of the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In addition, the
Group applies the simplified approach on trade receivables
and contract assets to provide for ECL model, which permits
the use of the lifetime impairment allowance for trade
receivables and contract assets. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group has concentration of credit
risk on trade receivables amounting to HK$5,916,000 (2019:
HK$5,205,000), representing approximately 40% of the trade
receivables (2019: 22%), due from a single customer (2019:
a single customer). As at 31 March 2020, trade receivables
from the five customers with the most significant balances
amounted to HK$11,821,000 (2019: HK$19,959,000)
representing approximately 79% (2019: 85%) of the total
trade receivables.

In determining the ECL for trade receivables and contract
assets, the management of the Group has taken into account
the historical default experience and the future prospect of
the industries and/or considering various external sources
of actual and forecast economic information, as appropriate,
in estimating the probability of default of each of the trade
receivables and contract assets occurring within their
respective loss assessment time horizon, as well as the loss
upon default in each case.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

33. Financial Instruments (Continued) 33. e T AE (&)

160

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and
(Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

impairment assessment

The table below provides information about the exposure
to credit risk and ECL for trade receivables and contract
assets which are assessed individually based on internal
credit rating as at 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019 within

lifetime ECL.

Gross carrying amount

TREREEREREEGE)

1= & & B & 0 (8 57 14 ()

BEZRURERESNEE (HA)

TRINHBGEWRERENEER
ERBRLEEHEEBENER TR
202093 A31H K% 201943 A318 % A
2HEHREEEBEERADBEETRE
o Bl BT A o

Impairment losses

fREAE B &S
Internal credit Average Trade Contract Trade Contract
rating loss rate receivables assets Total receivables assets Total
¥4 E5REK a8 E5REK a8
A EEFR BREE A BE ‘et ME BE Bt
% HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FTHET THT FTHET FTHET FTHET THAT
As at 31 March M202053A31H
2020
Strong ) 0.71 8,237 66,798 75,035 74 456 530
Good RIF 1.60 6,197 46,005 52,202 99 736 835
Satisfactory WE 2.87 - 3,589 3,589 - 103 103
Watch list BIRE 5.31 706 499 1,205 37 27 64
Loss B8 100 2,647 - 2,647 2,647 - 2,647
17,787 116,891 134,678 2,857 1,322 4,179
As at 31 March RH2019%3A31H
2019
Strong ) 0.19 8,129 56,886 65,015 8 116 124
Good RiF 0.81 14,652 43,248 57,900 118 350 468
Satisfactory mE 117 = 3,589 3,589 = 42 42
Watch list It E 10.95 991 1,603 2,594 30 254 284
Loss B 100 2,647 = 2,647 2,647 = 2,647
26,419 105,326 131,745 2,803 762 3,565
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

33. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and
(Continued)

impairment assessment

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

The ECL on trade receivables and contract assets are
estimated individually by reference to past default
experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s
current financial position, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions of the
industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment
of both the current as well as the forecast direction of
conditions at the reporting date.

A trade receivable and contract asset is written off when
there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or
when the trade receivables are over two years past due,
whichever occurs earlier. None of the trade receivables that
have been written off is subject to enforcement activities.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the year in assessing
the loss allowances for the trade receivables and contract
assets. The individual assessment is regularly reviewed by
management of the Group to ensure relevant information
about the specific debtor is updated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mRAEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

33. Financial Instruments (Continued) 33. e T AE (&)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and
(Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the

simplified approach:

impairment assessment

1= & & B & 0 (8 57 14 ()

TREREEREREEGE)

BEZRURERESNEE (HA)

TREIIREBOERE 5 B FIA
ERANEHEYNEERRE

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired) (credit-impaired) Total
2HEHEEFE 2HRNEERE
(EEREREERE) (EHREERE) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FTAT FTAT
At 1 April 2018 R2018F4A1H 24 1,086 1,110
Reversal of impairment losses ~ FE 201854718
due to financial asset BREMEE
recognised at ifi 48 121 i 18 /& 48
1 April 2018 (17) - (17)
New financial assets recognised FRERNF @ E E
during the year
- impairment losses -ERRBAEEE
recognised 149 1,561 1,710
At 31 March 2019 2019 3H31H 156 2,647 2,803
Reversal of impairment losses ~ E 2019 3H31H
due to financial assets BREBMEE
recognised at 31 March 2019 i 2 R 1B B 1B (135) - (135)
New financial assets recognised FRER N /& E
during the year
- impairment losses -ERRREEE
recognised 189 - 189
At 31 March 2020 720203 A31H 210 2,647 2,857
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

The major customers of the Group are certain reputable
organisations. The management of the Group considers that
the credit risk is limited in this regard.

Pledged bank deposits/bank balances

For the pledged bank deposits and bank balances, no
impairment allowance was made since the directors of the
Company consider the probability of default is negligible as such
amounts are receivable from or placed in banks with high credit

ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

20 B 76 R 5% I 3E
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B E 202053 A3 L FE
33. Financial Instruments (Continued) 33. e T AE (&)
Financial risk management objectives and TREREEAERBX(E)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 5 & B B &R E T (&)
(Continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued) BEZRWRERENEE (E)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL TREFIEEEOERBERIFEOE
that has been recognised for contract assets (not credit- HNEEMEHREERE) EERLN
impaired) individually assessed under the simplified >HAITEHAZ BB IEE )
approach:
Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired)
2HEHGEERR
(Y EHBEERME)
HK$'000
FTET
At 1 April 2018 R2018%E4A1H 663
Reversal of impairment losses due to financial HR2018F4B1HERCREE
assets recognised at 1 April 2018 i 12 [ R 1B & 18 (349)
New financial assets recognised during FABRNTE/EE
the year
- impairment losses recognised -ERAREER 448
At 31 March 2019 R2019%F3H31H 762
Reversal of impairment losses due to financial EHR2019F3A3E RS E E
assets recognised at 31 March 2019 if 48 R 1B & 18 (409)
New financial assets recognised during FABRRNFTEREE
the year
- impairment losses recognised -BRAREER 969
At 31 March 2020 20203 H31H 1,322

AEBENIZEFPAETHMRAS -
AEBEEER RN SEERR
BR -

EERBITER RITER

REEMRITERRBITERME -
HRABRAEERE KT AN EE
REEFARBETSEETANR
T BMARBESRBENNAIEME
M EE A ERRMERR -

Annual Report 2020 =& = Z F F 3}

163



164

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

33. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and
(Continued)

impairment assessment

Deposits

For deposits, no impairment allowance was made since the
directors of the Company consider the probability of default
is minimal after assessing the counterparties’ financial
background and creditability.

Other receivables

In respect of other receivables, the 12m ECL is assessed
individually as at 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019 and the
impairment allowance was provided by the Group based on
historical credit loss experience with these counterparties.

As at 31 March 2020, 12m ECL of which HK$11,000 (2019:
HK$3,000) is recognised for not credit-impaired other
receivables with an aggregate gross carrying amount of
HK$260,000 (2019: HK$210,000).

The following table shows the movement in 12m ECL that has
been recognised for other receivables:

33.

TR I A&
TREREEREREEGE)

1= & & B & 0 (8 57 14 ()

BE

REEMmME  ARREELIERS
HFNRBESREERIERRRE
#IH) R BEMEAR K - B L 3 AR ORLE
B

H ftb F& X KR

H b pE YR IB 7 202043 A 318 & 2019
FIANE @R ZEZ12EABEHEE
BRETE MASEEREZERS
HFENBAEEBBDHETIRAER
1# o

M2020F3H3IE " EREEHRLES
H £260,000/% 7T (20194F : 210,0007%
TT) B9 B b FE Y 3K I8 (E $111,000% 7T
(20194 : 3,000 7o) I £& H 3R {5 B R
BE)ER2EAEHEESRE -

TRETIHE MW RIEE R RN12
BEREHEEBHEE

12m ECL

(not credit-impaired)

1R2EAEHEERE

(E|EREERE)

HK$'000

FET

At 1 April 2018 M2018F4H18 1
Impairment loss recognised R EEIE 2
At 31 March 2019 R2019F3A31H 3
Impairment loss recognised EHRREEERE 8
At 31 March 2020 202063 H31H "
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33. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The Group relies on bank borrowings as significant
sources of liquidity. The management monitors the
utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with
loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the end
of the reporting period.

33.

mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
B £ 20206 3A31B IEFE

TR T A&
TR EREEREREEGE)

REBE < E R

REERBESRERE AKESE
ZRELRSFEYHRFE  AAGH
HFEEEERRITEHIKF » AR
NAKBEERMTET BRI RER
ERBNTE AEBRBRTER
ERIERDESKR EEEER
RITERNERLBERERZANE
RER -

TRANAKEIFTESREBEENOF
BRANFH -TRNDRESBRAEN
AFRECRERE  TREANKE
AEANTNEEEAHSE -

TREEMNEERAZHRERE ° H7F
BORAFE MR BRI R AR
FHROMKRGE -

Annual Report 2020 =& = Z F F 3}

165



166
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mRAEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020

HE2020F3A318ILEE

33. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidity and interest risk table

33. EMITA(E)

TREREEREREEGE)

REE € mE k(&)
RBEERANREARE

Weighted
average On demand Total
interest or less than 1-3 3 months 1-5 undiscounted  Carrying
rate 1month  months to 1 year years cash flows  amounts
mELH  RERS AFERE
FES 1MBAR 1Z38A 3EAZI%E 1255 REBE REE
% HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000 HK$'000  HK$'000
% TEL FTER TEL FTER FTAT THEL
At 31 March 2020 2020538318
Trade and other payables EZREMERNKIE NATEA 15,797 3,034 3,702 718 23,251 23,251
Bank borrowings RITER 4.30 96,268 - - - 96,268 96,268
Lease liabilities HEAR 423 152 316 981 - 1,449 1,428
112,217 3,350 4,683 718 120,968 120,947
At 31 March 2019 R2019%3A31A
Trade and other payables EZREMENKE NATEA 16,807 4,793 4,549 1127 27,276 27,276
Bank borrowings RITER 412 97,363 = = = 97,363 97,363
114,170 4,793 4,549 1,127 124,639 124,639
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N T
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B E 20203 A31H L FE
33. Financial Instruments (Continued) 33. e T AE (&)
Financial risk management objectives and TREREEAERBX(E)
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REE SRR (E)
Liquidity and interest risk table (Continued) MEE ® RFEE kR (E)
Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are ﬁ’”thzg?]i@?i&ﬂ%?ﬂmﬁﬁﬁfﬁ?ﬁ’\ﬁ)\ﬁ
included in the “on demand or less than 1 month” time M E AR S AT TR 2 sk 1@ AR
band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 March 2020, E%F'EJEQW R2020F3A31H @ ZER
the aggregate carrying amounts of these bank borrowings 17 8 S | BR T 1B 48 #8 7396,268,000/8
amounted to HK$96,268,000 (2019: HK$97,363,000). Taking 75(2019¢ : 97,363,000/ 7T) ° & & 2
into account the Group’s financial position, the directors AEBRNHBRR RXRAREZTRR
of the Company do not believe that it is probable that the ERATSTEERNBEERZANE
lenders will exercise their discretionary rights to demand K ARAEERA BERTERK
immediate repayment. The directors of the Company believe 15 AR 1% B 3K 175 5 P #8051 &1 2 5B B
that such bank borrowings will be repaid in accordance BE HFBHHNTR:
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements, details of which are set out in the table below:
Weighted
average On demand Total
interest or less than 1-3 3 months 1-5 undiscounted  Carrying
rate 1Tmonth  months  to 1year years cash flows  amounts
mE¥H REXSY AFERE
= MEAR 1Z3f8R 3MERAE1E 1E5% REHEH REE
% HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TET FTET TET FTET FTET TET
Bank borrowings BITER
At 31 March 2020 #2020 3A31H 4.30 37,920 28,380 32,255 1,744 100,299 96,268
At 31 March 2019 ®201943A31R 412 46,925 13,086 38,298 3,039 101,348 97,363
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e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

33. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Fair value measurement of financial
instruments

Fair value of financial assets that are measured at
fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of the reporting period. The following table
gives information about how the fair values of these financial
assets are determined.

Fair value as at

33. T A(&A)

TRMTEANAFEHFE

BEFEENUATEHFENSHE
BEENDFE

RBERAR  AEBELOEREETD
BAFEFE TRIEHBBEETEZ
FeRMEENAFENTENER -

RT5IEHHNAFE
31 March 31 March  Fair value Valuation technique and Significant unobservable
Financial assets 2020 2019 hierarchy  key inputs inputs
20205 20195 HERER EXFTEE
tHEE 3A318 3A31E  ATEER TEBAHE BABE
Financial assets at FVTPL - HK$10,360,000 HK$10,023,000  Level 3 Discounted cash flow method was - Mortality rates ranging
Payments for life used to capture the present from 0.62% to 100%
insurance policies value of the expected future (2019: 0.62% to 100%)
economic benefits that will flow
into the Group. - Discount rates ranging
from 1.73% to 2.02%
(2019: 1.94% to 2.08%)
RATEFABZHEEE 10,360,000 % 10,023,00087T F=4& ERAARREREESHEDS - RTENF0.62%ZE100%

E- A\BRBRREMK

Note: A slight decrease in the discount rate would result in
significant increase of the fair value of the payments for life

insurance policies, and vice versa.

These financial assets are measured at fair value at
each reporting date. The fair values are measured using
the valuation techniques with significant unobservable
inputs and hence are classified as Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy.

There were no transfers between different levels of fair value
hierarchy in the both years.

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A

AR (8 H R R A ) 5 RO

BE -

(20194 : 0.62% £100%)

- FRENF1.73%E2.02%
(20194 : 1.94% £ 2.08%)

Mist: HREZEUTHEBERASRE
FREMNFTORAFEREBEN R

ZIRR ©

HELRMAEREBREAMBRATE
HE AFENEMAEATITRE
WA BN EESE - MDA
ATEERE=M -

RREFE TRAAFEBRRZEL
EAL SR -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

44 B 16 5 2% MY B
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B £202063A31B IEFE
33. Financial Instruments (Continued) 33. e T AE (&)
Fair value measurement of financial EMIANAFETFER)
instruments (Continued)
Reconciliation of Level 3 measurement of financial TREEE=ZAGTENHE
assets
Payments for
life insurance
policies
ASERE
REMNK
HK$°000
FA T
At 1 April 2018 M20185F4H18 8,388
Fair value gain recognised in profit or loss R = AR AT ER = 1,635
At 31 March 2019 20194 3H31H 10,023
Fair value gain recognised in profit or loss REZAERN A FERRS 337
At 31 March 2020 7R 202053 A31H 10,360
The unrealised gain of HK$337,000 (2019: HK$1,635,000) B E202063AMB L FEEBEZR A
relating to financial assets that are measured at fair value FTHFAENEREENARER k=
for the year ended 31 March 2020 is included in other 337,000/ 7T (20194 : 1,635,000/ 7T)
income, gains and losses. ST A E A A - e as R EE -
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)

B R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

33.

34.

Financial Instruments (Continued)

Fair value measurement of financial
instruments (Continued)

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third
party qualified valuer to perform the valuation. The Group
works closely with the qualified external valuers to establish
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the
model. The management reports the valuation findings to
the board of directors of the Company annually to explain
the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets and
liabilities.

Information about the valuation techniques and inputs used
in determining the fair value of the asset are disclosed
above.

Fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a
recurring basis

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities at
amortised cost recognised in the consolidated financial

statements approximate their fair values.

Performance Guarantees

As at 31 March 2020, surety bonds of an aggregate balance
of HK$15,078,000 (2019: HK$10,245,000) were given by a
bank in favour of the Group’s customers as security for the
performance and observance of the Group’s obligations
under the construction contracts entered into between
the Group and the customers. If the Group fails to provide
satisfactory performance to the customers to whom the
performance guarantees have been given, such customers
may demand the bank to pay to them the sum or sum
stipulated in such demand. The Group will become liable to
compensate such bank accordingly.

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A

33.

34.

TR I A&
EMITANDFETEGR

REFEENRAFER  AEEER
AESHNTISABRENE - BEEN
BE—RBAABER XEEZES
ZHRERMLEMETHE AEE
HEEERIGEEMZ A F  NEZ
VEERENEMERABGARE - &
BEESFRAARRESEREMES
R-UNRABERBBERFERDH
REA o

AREEEEATENGESERE
ABEBEHEMR EXEE -

WHZEEEEENATEHTEN
THEERSREBENLQTE

ARBEZRRNERE M RRAME
RERBHEHKATAENEREELS
BEENEHERAEAFERE -

B % 1 &

MR2020F3A31H - —HETUARE
ENEFEFAZm ARHEALERAL
15,078,000 7T (20194 : 10,245,0005%
) ERASBEITI BT EH
ZERPIUNERAANETNE
R MAEBERERNESFSBOERD
EPREESARENRR  FEARP
AERBRITMESZINRIBRBEER
Frig AR RIE - RS E B E E 5t
mMBEBERITIELHMEE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. Performance Guarantees (Continued)

35.

The performance guarantees were granted under letters of
guarantees of the Group and were secured by the Group’s
pledged bank deposits, trade receivables and contract
assets as disclosed in note 29, which will be released upon
completion of the contract works.

As at 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019, these surety bonds
were also secured by pledges of certain properties held
by a director of the Company and companies controlled by
a director of the Company or his close family members as
disclosed in note 35.

The management of Group does not consider it is probable
that a claim will be made against the Group in respect of the
above performance guarantees.

Related Party Transactions

As at 31 March 2020, properties held by a director of the
Company and companies controlled by a director of the
Company or his close family members were pledged to
secure bank loans of HK$51,234,000 (2019: HK$56,892,000)
out of total secured bank loans of HK$85,454,000 (2019:
HK$84,761,000) as set out in note 25. These properties were
also pledged to secure surety bonds of HK$15,078,000 (2019:
HK$10,245,000) given by a bank as at 31 March 2020 as
disclosed in note 34.

The remuneration of key management personnel who are the
directors of the Company during the year was disclosed in
note 10.

34.

35.

mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
B £ 20206 3A31B IEFE

B R (&)

BRERIRBEASENERIE S
TAREECERRITER BEHE
WK IR I A #) & B 1 P& & (10 ft &£ 29
IE) ERERENRANIRTET
By R BR

72020938318 %2019 3A318 -
ZEEEMERTAERRR—BEER
BAAA —ZREFHEHBEEHFHOQ
AIFTFEE T M E 15 &R (a0 bt
FESGFTH ) o

AEENEREERR  AKETEH
FEiBOERBHRE -

BEBLXS

20206 3A318  ARR—RES
EBEARA —BEEREFEBEH
WARIFFEE TYXEER EAR
85,454,000/ 7T (20194 : 84,761,000
BB KB RITERLEAF
51,234,000 7T (20194 : 56,892,000
HBIT) RITE M &R (F A KT 5E25) ©
EMETEER - 1R MN2020%53
HA318 B R 17 2 £t #915,078,0007% 7T
(20194F : 10,245,000/ 7T) EEE R
PER (RA KT SE34FTHL) ©

BEARBEENIBZEEASRE
P i BN Y SR 103 BR o
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e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31BIEFE

36. Particulars of Subsidiaries

Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company as at 31
March 2020 and 31 March 2019 are as follows:

General information of subsidiaries

Place and the date Issued and fully

36. IMBABIFTE

R QA 202093 H31H K20194E3 A

NEHBMNBARNFEBOT

MEAR—REHR

Equity interest

of incorporation/  Place of paid capital/ attributable
Name of subsidiary establishment operation  registered capital  to the Company Principal activity
BRITR
EME L HMERE/ VNN
i) PNCIEE B3 3t B K% A HR o it B it i & & FE 4 IR A= 4 25 TEXB
2020 2019
2020 20194
Directly held:
EERE:
Polyfair Group Limited BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
8 June 2017
EREEARAA KBRAES EiE 1270 100%  100% REER
201746 A8H
Indirectly held:
FERA
Polyfair HK Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$3,000,000 100% 100%  Project management
9 February services for facade
2006 and installation of
curtain wall systems
and investment
holding
BRER EE B 3,000,000  100%  100% AMEEAEBRRELE
200652 A9R BESLEARRKE
iy
Shenzhen Polyfair Curtainwall ~ PRC PRC HK$1,000,000 100% 100%  Design of facade
Technology Company 9 January 2017 systems
Limited (note)
RYBEERMRERAF HE FE 1,000,000  100%  100% SMERGRR
GE3) 20176 1A9R
Note: Shenzhen Polyfair Curtainwall Technology Company Limited Miz: RINBZHHZBRBEERAA TR

is registered under the law of the PRC as foreign investment
enterprise. The official name of the entity is in Chinese. The
English name is for identification purpose only.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at
the end of the year.

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A
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mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
B £202063A31B IEFE

37. Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising From 37. BEEFHMEEEENYE
Financing Activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TRAMEINAEERETIHMES
arising from financing activities. Liabilities arising from BENED BESHAELENAER
financing activities are those for which cash flows were, REEMEBGNARKBERAEEH
or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s RERERERNDBEARETER
consolidated statement of cash flows from financing EmEMNARE-
activities.
Accrued Bank Lease
issue costs borrowings liabilities Total
P& 5t
BATH A R 17 18 ™ HEA®E et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
(note 25) (note 24)
(Bt 5% 25) (Mt &£ 24)
At 1 April 2018 R2018F4H1H 485 117,192 - 117,677
Net financing cash flows MERECREFH (485) (25,032) = (25,517)
Finance costs accrued JE 5T B & K A = 5,203 = 5,203
At 31 March 2019 R2019F3H31H - 97,363 - 97,363
Adjustment upon application & F & 7 Bf 1% &R
of HKFRS 16 (note 2) 2 X Bl 251655 IF
92 (M 3£ 2) - - 3,329 3,329
At 1 April 2019 (restated) R2019F4A18
(&) - 97,363 3,329 100,692
Net financing cash flows MERSREFHE - (6,554) (1,962) (8,516)
Finance costs accrued FEET R & Bk A - 5,459 98 5,557
Lease modification — HEEE -
rent concession HeEE - - (37) (37)
At 31 March 2020 7202093 HA31H - 96,268 1,428 97,696
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mRAEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020

HE2020F3A318ILEE

38. Statement of Financial Position and
Reserves of the Company

38. ANAWNMBMRR R KB

Information about the statement of financial position of the R R A RS B AR A B A5 AR OB R A R
Company at the end of the reporting period includes: BIE:
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$°000 HK$’000
TET T T
Non-current asset EMBE E
Investment in a subsidiary RN—EHBARMKE 68,036 68,536
Current assets mEN & E
Prepayments, deposits and ERRE EE2k
other receivables H fth fE Uk 30 I8 273 272
Amount due from a subsidiary & U — R Y BB A B 3R T8 22 2,622
Bank balances iR 17 4 84 62 69
357 2,863
Current liabilities mENEE
Amount due to a subsidiary FE A — RE Bt B A &) 3R I8 3,833 1,470
Other payables H i & < 5018 207 =
4,040 1,470
Net current (liabilities) assets nE(BE)EETFE (3,683) 1,393
Net assets BEFME 64,353 69,929
Capital and reserves BARR
Share capital % Zx 8,000 8,000
Reserves G 56,353 61,929
Total equity = H 64,353 69,929

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A
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38. Statement of Financial Position and
Reserves of the Company (Continued)

Movement of the reserves of the Company is as follows:

mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
B £202063A31B IEFE

8. ADFGH B MR KR
IIE

ARFRBEZHOT -

Share Other Capital Accumulated

premium reserve reserve losses Total
BRE HitEe BRAEE RitE#E #et
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FTAT FHET

(note)

GED
At 1 April 2019 R2019F 4718 37,915 3,000 35,536 (11,806) 64,645
Loss for the year FAEBHE - - - (2,716) (2,716)
At 31 March 2019 201943 A31H 37,915 3,000 35,536 (14,522) 61,929
Loss for the year FREBE - - = (5,576) (5,576)
At 31 March 2020 M202053H31R 37,915 3,000 35,536 (20,098) 56,353
Note: Capital reserve represented the difference between the Mizr: BRARBEEZTZFTEN20184F

carrying amount of the equity of Polyfair HK prior to a
group reorganisation in 2018 and the issued share capital

of Polyfair HK pursuant to the group reorganisation.

SEEAAMNRAROERSE
HEAREBEESTHDEITK
AZEHEZHE -
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Financial Summary

MBRERE

RESULTS E
For the five years ended 31 March 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019 and # 220164 + 20174F ~ 20184 + 20194F K 20204F
2020 SABILEREFE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
20204 20194F 20184F 20174 20164F
HK$000  HK$'000 HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
FExT FHET FHTT FHT FH T
Revenue U 2§ 229,809 215,778 271,841 109,607 172,029
Profit (loss) before B B AT ) (B 18)
taxation 592 (6,883) 8,084 9,467 19,691
Taxation credit (charge) MIEE R (AX) 2,477 302 (3,915) (2,285) (3,266)
Profit (loss) for the year — F R A (E18) 3,069 (6,581) 4,169 7,182 16,425
Other comprehensive FREMEE(FX)
(expense) income for A
the year (30) (58) 100 — —
Total comprehensive FAEEBA ()
income (expense) for R
the year 3,039 (6,639) 4,269 7,182 16,425
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EENERE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
20204 20194F 20184 20174 20164
HK$000  HK$'000 HK$ 000  HK$000  HK$000
T FET FET FHET FHET
Total assets BEBE 190,444 191,241 235,742 90,404 64,625
Total liabilities BEBEE (126,041)  (129,788)  (165,944) (70,790) (52,193)
Net assets BEFE 64,403 61,453 69,798 19,614 12,432
Note: B =

The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated

financial statements.

The financial information for the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016
were extracted from the prospectus of the Company dated 31 January
2018. Such summary was prepared as if the current structure of the Group

had been in existence throughout these financial years.

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A
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e

HE2017F %2016 FE3A31H IEFER B EE R T
HskBEANRAT HE A20185F1 A3THM B EIE -
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